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PREFACE

I was interested in history while I was in school and I pursued
this interest as a history student at the University of Tabriz
where I graduated in history in 1973. Apart from a major part

of our studies in history, which were about the Iranian and foreign
dynasties, we had to study a great deal about the lives of
individual Kings; but hardly any space was allocated to the history
of social and political movements in Iran. The names of patriots
and political thinkers such as Khiyabani were not, for political
reasons, mentioned. These movements, however, no matter how
briefly they were covered in our history books, were still able to
arouse my curiosity and interest in discovering more about these
movements and their leaders. In 1977 I decided to undertake
research in modern history. My decision coincided with social and
political upheavals in Iran which resulted in the revolution of
1979.  This by itself strengthened my conviction that we must study
and understand our history in its particular social and political
content. That is to say revolts and revolutions are not something
which appear suddenly, but are the product and result of historical
developments in which peoples, as a living force, have taken part.
These revolts and revolutions are, in fact, the manifestations of
longstanding social injustices and oppressions which have been

imposed on the people by despotic kings, irresponsible governments



and reactionary rulers. In recent social upheavals of Iran I
witnessed how thousands of sincere people and patriots gave their
Tives and wished to free their country from age old backwardness.
This reflected the continuation of the constitutional revolution
and Khiyabani's uprising (1910-1920).  Since my grandfather

Mirza Muhammad Tagi Tabataba'i Khatambakhsh was involved in the
constitutional revolution and Khiyabani's uprising and I naturally
had heard a lot about Enjyibénf through my relatives, both personal
curiosity and historical interest made me choose Khiyabani as the
subject of my research.

Some-books and articles have been written about Khiyabani which
are either very superficial or based on misrepresentation. They
are superficial because they have not attempted to explain why and
how Khiyabani's uprising began and the reasons for its success and
failure and the role of central government in Tehran in this event
is not examined. Khiyabani's original speeches and works have not
been studied in depth. The opposition to Khiyabani's uprising has
misrepresented him in different ways. The most striking aspect of
this is the fact that he has been accused by his political opponents
over and over again of being a "separatist". Some historians have
even either spelt Khiyabani's name wrongly or copied the errors of
others.

I came to Edinburgh and was accepted as a postgraduate student
in October 1979, and then went to London where I studied and examined
the British Foreign office archives and also studied in the British

Library.  Through the Edinburgh University Library I received some



X1

books and newspapers in Russian, French, English, Persian and Azari.
Three times I travelled to Iran where [ could consult the Iranian
Parliamentary documents, newspapers, books and interviewed a
number of Iranians who either participated in or had valuable
memories of Khiyabani's uprising. It is hoped, therefore, that
the present study will shed a great deal of light upon a hitherto

much-neglected episode in modern Iranian history.
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ABSTRACT

In this thesis we have attempted to describe and analyse the uprising
of Shaykh Muhammad Khiyabani in Tabriz in 1920.  The main purpose
is to show that contrary to the view often held, Khiyabani was a
patriot whose Democratic Movement did not wish to separate
Azerbayjan from Iran. This is illustrated clearly by his speeches.
Khiyabani's uprising is to be regarded as a continuation of the
Constitutional Revolution of 1905.

In the first chapter the social and political situation in
Iran before the Constitutional Revolution is briefly reviewed, and
the Russian intervention in the internal affairs of Iran, the
elements in the formation of the Constitutional Revolution and the
gains and failures of the Constitutional Revolution are discussed.

In the second chapter Khiyabani's 1ife and his political
activities both in Azerbayjan and in Parliament are examined, and
the nine months of fighting during 1908-9 between the
constitutionalists and the government forces which was ended by
the Russian occupation of Tabriz, are discussed. During this period
all Khiyabani's political activities were carried out secretly and
the democratic movement went underground because of political
suppression by the central government.

In the third chapter we have shown how the withdrawal of Russian
forces from Iran due to the October Revolution of 1917 gave the

opportunity to Britain to establish herself as the sole foreign power
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in Iran by obtaining the Anglo-Persian Agreement of 1919. The
nature of this agreement and most of the original correspondence
between the British Embassy in Tehran and the Foreign Office in
London have been examined, and the views of Khiyabani and also the
views of other countries in regard to this agreement have been
recorded and analysed. |

In the fourth chapter the reasons for Khiyabani's uprising, his
activities during this uprising, the manner in which his uprising
was suppressed and what happened after Eﬁiyébén?'s death in
Azerbayjan have been discussed.

In the final chapter, our purpose is to illustrate the
political views of Shaykh Mu@ammadiggiyébén? through his speeches.

An attempt has also been made to give an overall picture of
Khiyabani's philosophy and outlook by using material from his
speeches which were published in the Newspaper Tajaddud in Tabriz
between 1917 and 1920.

Certain material which is of interest but which we have been
unable to utilise in the body of the thesis, in addition to some

photographs, have been included in a number of appendices.
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Chapter 1

IRAN'S SOCIAL AND POLITICAL POSITION BEFORE THE CONSTITUTIONAL
REVOLUTION

The Qajar period marks a turning-point in the history of Iran.
At the time of its establishment western influence was still almost
non-existent. The Portuguese had attempted to dominate the trade
of the Gulf at an earlier period, and from the time of Peter the
Great onward the Russians had already shown signs of interest in
expansion southward through Iranian territory, although in the late
18th century the main concerns of the Russian Empire seemed to lie2lse-
whare, In little more than a century, however, the aggressive
policies of these two states were playing a vital role in Iran's
internal affairs, and the country was virtually partitioned between
them.  Other states, notably Germany, were seeking a role in Iran
also, and with the outbreak of the First World War the Ottomans also
became briefly involved.

By the beginning of the 20th century, Iran had become in reality,
virtually a semi-colonised state under the control of Britain and

Russia, whose interference was a factor in keeping Iran backward.1

1. See N. Fatimi. Diplomatic History of Persia, 1917-1923, p.244;
M.S. Ivanov, Noveyshayd . Jstoriya Irana  Tr. into Persian by
Tizabi and Qayim Panah under the Persian title (Tarikh-i Nuvin-i
Iran), p.10; N. R Kedd1e, "Iranian Politics 1900-1905: Background
to Revo]ution'k p 6, "and A. Qasimi, Shish sal Ingilab-1
Mashrut1yyat i Iran, p.4.




The effect of Russian and English domination and in particular
of the military aggressiveness of Russia turned the country into
a battlefield of Western imperialism.  Unjust agreements,1 and
licences and facilities for trading granted to Russia and Western
European countries, opened Iran's gates to a flood of foreign products
and manufacturers, while foreign investment increased in Iran.

In theory, the emerging industries of Iran were invigorated by
these development; in reality, this foreign investment further
harmed Iran economically. It caused bankruptcy, dissatisfaction and
deeper social inequality in Iranian society. The court was combosed
of people who had 1ittle understanding of political reality and only
sought to bolster up their own position.3 They held on to their
wealth by imposing burdensome taxes on the people, especially the
poor farmers. Those in power eventually had to find a further source
of income. One lucrative source was the dealing in trading licences
with foreign countries.4 The increased income was often spent on

frivolous pursuits or corruptly frittered away.

; -7 .. -3 M. Afshar, La Politique
Européenne en Perse, p.189; F. Adamiyyat, Fikri Azadi va Mugaddama-yi

1. See L.P. Elwell-Sutton, Modern Iran, p.59.

Nihzat-i MaEQrGFiyyat, p.22, and for more details see, M. Ittihadiyya,

Gusha ha'i Az Ravakit-i Khariji-yi Irdn, pp.40-51.

2. See, A. Jahan Bani, Marzha-yi Iran va Shurayi, p.22 and for more

details see A. Qasimi, op.cit. pp.5-7.
3. See “A.A. Bina, Tarikh-i Siyasi va Diplumasi-yi Iran, p.57;

M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., p.14, and L.P. Elwell-Sutton, M.I., p.61.

4. See E.G. Brown, The Persian Revolution 1905-1909, (Cambridge, 1910) p.57.
M. McCarthy, Anglo-Russian Rivalry in Persia, p.37; and
R. Ra'is Niya and D. “Ashuri, Zamina-yi I¢tisadi va Ijtimaci-yi
Inqilab-i Mashrita-yi iran, p.26. '




The guarantors for the repayment of loans raised by the court
were the small cultivators and other lower classes who were in the
power of their court and their masters.1 The crippling loans which
coincided with the arrival of foreign advisors affected the
administration of customs, finance, the army and postal services.
The deals had two beneficial consequences for the foreign countries
involved. Firstly, they could sell their products at their own
prices, without paying any customs duties or taxes. Secondly, they
had control of administration.3 The court's practice of bestowing
eétates, towns and villages on landowners and feudal lords in return
for money and gifts had regrettable results for the small farmers.

A farmer could have his land confiscated or be deprived of water and
seed.4 Besides these misfortunes, they were obliged to pay four-
fifths of their annual produce to their feudal overlands and masters.
Sometimes they had to pay oil, butter, chicken and sheep to their

5
masters.

1. See R. Riza Zida-yi Malik, Haydar Khan-i “Ami Ughli, p.7, and

Y. Aryan Pur, Az Saba Ta Nima Vol.2, p.51.

2. See E.G. Browne, P.R., p.104.
3. See M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., p.8.
4. See A. Kirmani, Nama ha-yi Aqa Khan-i Kirmani, No.16 (Tehran N.D.),

and R. Rizazada-yi Malik, op.cit., p.7.
5. See M. “Abbasi, Tarikh-i Inqilak-i iran, p.41; CA.A. Bini,

op.cit., p.57, and R. Ra'is Niya and D. “Ashari, Z.I.I., p.21.



When there was a famine and the amount of produce was reduced,
the peasant farmers were sometimes forced to give their daughters
to the overlords in ljeu of the annual taxes. Thus for example

"In 1905 the people of Quchan had not been able to pay
their annual tax to their masters because of shortages,
and the overlords accordingly took 300 Quchani girls and
sold them to the Turkman chiefs."]

In villages, the overlords could rule independently. They were free
to organise.the Tocal court, to pass judgements and bring charges.
In a few parts of Iran such as Ba]ﬁgbjstén and Fars, they could
arrange the purchase and sale of slaves. Because of grinding poverty
the people were obliged to Tive at subsistance level. Their rulers
and overlords, meanwhile, were living in 1uxury.3

Famine and epidemics of cholera and plague occasionally spread
throughout the country. The pitiful position of the people was made
worse by the failure of many domestic industries because of ever
increasing competition from foreign goods and products. This
resulted in massive unemployment. Thousands of these unemployed
people were forced to emigrate to escape from hunger and death.
Every year they were obliged to emigrate to Russia and India. The
number of these people at the beginning of the twentieth century was

more than two hundred thousand.4

1. See M.N.I. Kirmani, Tarikh-i Bidari-yi Iraniyan, p.198, and

M.I. Rizyani, Ingilab-i Mashrutiyyat, p.52.

2. See A. Kasravi, Tarikh-i Mashruta-yi Iran, p.7; R. Ra'is Niya and

D. “Ashurf, op.cit., pp.12,18.
3. See M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., p.9, and A. Kasravi, T.M.I., p.287.

—————

4. See Mahnama -yi Azarbayjan, No.10, (Tabriz, 1968).



The people left behind were at the mercy of their rulers, who
frequently committed acts of barbarism, and people could be mutilated
or hanged at a whim. Iranians thus suffered at the hands of their
own rulers, and also suffered because of foreign intervention in

their country.]

RUSSIAN AND BRITISH INTERFERENCE IN IRAN'S INTERNAL AFFAIRS
Owing to her important strategic and geographical situation lying as
she does on the direct route between Europe and the East (India in
particular); her rich and potential resources, and eventually
because of her vital position in the Gulf, Iran suffered greatly from
the attentions of the two major powers of the nineteenth century.
From the time of Peter the Great, Russia has wished to bring
into reality her dreams of having access to the warm and open waters
of the Persian Gulf, one of the most important routes in the world
in fact. Equally, the reason Britain attempted to establish a
position within Iran was to protect her rich colony of India by

transforming Iran into a strong-point against foreign interference.2

1. See Hon. J.M. Balfour, Recent Happenings in Persia, p.76;
J. Malcolm, History of Persia, Vol.2, p.300; A. Qasimi, op.cit.,

p.5, and M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., p.13. o

2. See E.G. Browne, P.C.N., p.329; R. Kumar, "Anglo-Turkish
Antagonism in the Persian Gulf" in, Islamic Culture, 1960, p.100;
D.N. Walker, Iran Past and Present, p.79, and M. Mujtahidi,

Iran-u Ingilis, p.75. For a full account see, R.L. Greaves,
Persia and the Defence of India.,LoMlan,lgﬁgﬂ




Russia and Britain competed in seeing who could gain more
influence in Iran and thus take advantage of the country more
successfully. As well as the Northern provinces, which Russia
gained from Iran by invasion and military force most of the country
had become Iranian in name on]y.]

Britain interfered with Iran's affairs so that she could control
Iran's frontiers with Afghanistan and Irag. To enable Britain to
strengthen her power in India, she had to build up a barrier before
the Russians. With this end in mind, Britain obtained from Iran
a Licence to erect a telegraph line from Baghdad to India through
Iran.2

A missed opportunity for Iran occurred when Britain learned
of the existence of the qi] field in the South of the country.
Britain obtained a licence for sixty years through the agency of
William Knox D'arcy in 1901. According to this agreement, the
company agreed to pay the sum of £20,000 at the beginning of the

exploration and also took to give £20,000 worth of shares. Sixteen

1. See Hon. G.N. Curzon, Persia and the Persian Question, Vol.2,
pp.607-610; L.P. Elwell-Sutton, "The Pahlayi Era", on
Persia: History and Heritage, ed. by J.A. Boyle and H. Mellard,

p.51; D.N. Wilber, I.P.P., p.79. For more details see,
Iranian Foreign Office, "Majm“u-i “Ahd Nama Ha-yi Tarikhi-yi
Iran Az “Ahd-i Hakhamanishi ta Asr-i Pahlayi" ed. by

V. Mazandarani, pp.126,170.
2. See M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., p.3 and M. Mujtahidi, I.I., p.75.



per cent of the company's annual profits were to be paid to the
Iranian Government.]

The foreign powers vied with each other in gaining influence
at court, but were on good enough terms with each other eventually
to come to a compromise.2 By 1907, Iran had been divided into
three spheres of influence: Northern Iran was under Russian control,
Southern Iran under British, while the central area was neutral.
This neutral area was further divided in 1915.3

In 1910, the Iranian Government invited an American advisor,
William Morgan Shuster, to attempt to reform the disorganised and
bankrupt financial administration. There was a temporary improvement
and finances became better regulated, but the reaction of Russia to

this improvement shows how deep and malign was her interference in

Iran's internal affairs.4 The Iranian Government, she declared,

1. See L.P. Elwell-Sutton, M.I., p.64; A. Ha'iri, Shi'aism and
constitutionalism in Iran, p.171; and ©A. Mustawfi,

Tarikh-i Idari va 1jtima“i-yi Qajar, Vol.3, pp.218-9.

2. See A. Kasrayi, Tarikh Hijdah Sala-yi Azarbayjan, p.337, and

M. Mujtahidi, I.I., p.18.

3. See G.P. Gooch and J.H.B. Masterman, A Century of British
Foreign Policy, p.76; M. McCarthy, op.cit., p.50; and
A. Razi, Tarikh-i Mufassal-i Iran, p.519.

4. See G. Lanczowski, Iran under the Pahlayis, p.11; E.G. Browne,
P.C.M., p.328; H. Kafur, Soviet Russia and Asia, 1917-1927;
p.144; "Persia" in Encyclopaedia Britannica, Vol.XXI and,

M. Dawydi, “Ayn al-Dawla va Rizhim-i Maghrﬁ?a, pp.187-252.




must dismiss Shuster and take note, henceforth, that if Iran
wished to invite any foreign advisor, she should first consult
with Russia and Britain.]

Many thinking Iranians were affronted by this ultimatum,
which they saw as yet another example of foreign interference.

In the National Parliament of Iran, one of these leading thinkers,
Shaykh Muhammad Khiyabani, the subject of the present thesis,

spoke out against this ultimatum. But as we know Russia continually
used force to impose her demands on Iran.

Previously, in 1908, the Majlis had been bombarded and
forcibly dissolved by Colonel Lyakhov,2 the Russian Commander of
Muhammad “Ali Shah's Cossack Brigade, by order of the Shah, who was
firmly supported by Russia.3 The action was mounted to close
parliament, exile some leaders and kill certain liberal peop]e.4
Britain and Russia, the two competitors, both benefited equally
from their involvement in Iran, but Russia caused more harm to the

country.5 Britain was involved in political manceuvres and plans

1. See M.W. Shuster, The Strangling of Persia, p.182; D.N. Wilber,
I[.P.P., p.85; A. Banani, The Modernization of Iran, (1961), p.37.
2. The Persian Cossack Brigade was formed in 1879 by Nasir al-Din

§g§h as a royal bodyguard. This guard later received most of its
orders from Russia. For more details, see also, M.A. Afschar,
op.cit., p.26 and P. Mansfield, op.cit., p.81.

3. See L.P. Elwell-Sutton, M.I. (London 1941), p.63.

4. For more details see F. Adamiyyat, op.cit., pp.330-31 and
M.I. Rizvani, op.cit., pp.170-72.

5. See Sir P. Sykes, A History of Persia II, p.426; Y. Aryvan Pur,
op.cit., Vol.2, p.8 and M. Bahar, Tarikh-i Ahzab-i Siyasi-yi Iran,

p.225.




but Russia harmed the very life of the peop]e.] Her behaviour 1in
Tabriz was particularly notorious. When people protested at

Russian interference and misdeeds, many people were cruelly executed,
some cut in half like sheep.2 The most famous monument in Tabriz.

% L= . 3
the Mongol Ark-i €a13 Shah was bombarded by Russian troops.

However in 1915, Russia and Britain signed another agreement which
completed the 1907 Agreement. The neutral zone of Iran was now also
divided between the two major powers. Thus, they concluded, Iran
would cause them no bother and would be a country in name only.
Britain and Russia used different methods to gain their ends, but

. . 4
basically shared a common aim and secretly united to carry it through.

1. See M.W. Shuster, op.cit., p.43; H. Makki, Tarikh-i Bist

Sala-yi Irdn, Vol.2, p.24, in the introduction; and K.T. Zada-yi

Bihzad, Qiyam-i Azarbayjan Dar Inqilab-i Mashrutiyyat, p.315.

2. M. Myjtahidi, Rijal-i Azarbayjan Dar “Asr-i Mashruta, pp.114-222,

and A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., pp.337-39, 340-42.
3. See M. Machray, "Mesopotamia and Persia" in, Fortnightly Review,
108, (London, 1920), pp.618-19 and M. Ittihadiyya, op.cit., p.28.
4. E.G. Browne, A brief narrative of recent events in Persia, p.24,
and A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., p.337.




CAUSES OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL MOVEMENT

From the previous discussion we have seen that most Iranians
lived in a miserable 1ife at the beginning of the twentieth
century. The oppression of the géiég Dynasty and bribery had
reached unprecedented heights.]

Other elements played a major part in creating a constitutional
movement. One element in the movement for constitutional reform
was the minority class of broad-minded intellectual thinkers. They
were generally familiar with the laws of European countries and
understood the workings of democratic government.  They put
forward the idea that government springs from the nation and that
religion and state should be kept separate. They favoured a
European-style Constitutional Monarchy and wanted a new political
society in Iran.

The majority of people were ignorant and illiterate, however,
and were not receptive to the ideas of this minority. Their
constribution to new thoughts and ideas in Iran was, nevertheless,

considerable and should not be overlooked. Mirza Malkam Khan,

(1833-1908) was one of the first men to work for the enlightenment
and reform of Iran. He entered government service and rose to the
position of Minister to Great Britain, and published the newspaper

Qanun in London (1889-1890).  His political activities were extremely

1. See Sh. Bakhash, Iran, Monarchy, Bureaucracy and Reform under the
Qajars, 1858-1896, p.305; A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., pp.148-49, and
M.I. Rizvani, op.cit., p.50.

10



influential. The role of Qanun in diffusing ideas hostile to the
regime was unquestionably great, and Mirza Malkam Khan was also a
strong advocate of the application of western values in order to
end European Colonial investment in Persia.]

Sayyid Jamal al-Din Asad abadi (Afghani) (1838-1892) bitterly

attacked the court in his speeches and sought to rouse the people from
their slumbers. His hope was to establish a constitutional and
republican regime, declaring that it would be impossible for the
distinguished liberal politicians to ignore their own interests
unless a constitutional government was estabh‘shed.2 Among his best
known followers were Shaykh Ahmad Ruhi, Mirza Aqa Khan and Khabir
al-Mulk.>

Mirza Hasan Rushdiyya, the founder of new schools in Iran, was
the publisher of the paper Maktab, in Tehran. Mirza Hasan Rushdiyya
had been pronounced an infidel by the “Ulama and his school destroyed

by a mob of ?u115£ (religious students).4

1. See H. Algar, Religion and State in Iran 1785-1906, pp.192,458;
H. Natiq, Az Mast ki Bar Mast, pp.165-194; A. Ha'iri, op.cit.,
p.39; S : - - . . and

A. Kasravi, T.M.I., p.l0.

2. See E.G. Browne, P.R., pp.1-30; CA. A. Halabi , Sayyid Jamal
al-Din Asad 3badi; for a fuller account see G.R. Sabri-Tabrizi,
The Bibliography of Sayid Jamal Eddin Asad a-badi, the Islamic
Philosopher of the East.y'TéLr'lz,1965

3. See E.G. Browne, P.R., p.94. '

4. See H. Algar, op.cit., p.244, and A. Kasravi, T.M.I., p.19.
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Mirza “Abd a]-H5§gim Tilibof, (1855-1910) was born in Tabriz,
but lived mostly in Russia. His numerous Persian books, written
in simple style, helped popularize modern political ideas and
science in Iran. He was one of the famous scholars who worked to
enlighten public opinion. His contribution to the Persian
awakening and the development of constitutional theory in Iran was
as important as theirs, if not more so. He used to say, "first I
love the universe, then I love Iran, and eventually, I love the
clean soil of Tabriz".]

Mirza ©A17 Akbar-i Sabir, (1862-1911) was one of the most active
and famous opponents of despotic government and a radical poet of

Iran. He is especially known for his satirical poems written under

the title of Hup Hup Nama. He defended the poor people and attacked

the powerful, and is particularly known for his attacks on religious
hypocrisy. He examined the laws and government of European countries
and compared them with the situation in Iran, thus helping the
Iranians to appreciate the shortcomings of their own system.2

Another element was the manner in which Iranian leaders granted
licences to foreigners and raised loans to maintain their luxurious

Tifestyle.  When loans could not be paid, rich lands or resources were

1. See M. “Abbasi, op.cit., pp.22,35, M.A. Tarbiyat, Danishmandan-i
Azarbayjan, p.41.

2. See E.G. Browne, P.R., p.35. For more details, see
A.A. Sabir Tahirzada, Kulliyyat-i Hup Hup Nama, and A. Sihhat,
Asar-i Bar Guzida, pp.355-6.
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sometimes given, thus increasing Iranian discontent.] In 1900, a
loan of two and a half million roubles was borrowed from Russia at
the interest of five per cent to be repaid within seventy five years
for Muzaffar al-Din Shah to go for medical treatment to Europe.
Subsequently one and a half million roubles was borrowed from
Russia, again for the King to go to Londoﬁ. In exchange for
these loans to Iran, Russia demanded the right to the customs of
Northern Iran and the Ticence to build a highway from Julfa to
Tehran through Tabriz and Qaz\n’n.2

The constitutional movement owed much to the clergy. They
were an effective force in society and had the trust of the people
to whom religion was important. The “Ulama (clergy) called for
justice and criticised oppression which was roundly denounced in
the mosques.3 Some “Ulama were well informed about the working of
European Governments. In response to questions about the
Constitutional Laws, which had been put by leading Iranian clergy
in 1905 to the most famous Iranian religious leader in Najaf (Iraq),

Ayat-Allah Kazim Ehpr555n1,4 who had similarly demanded constitutional

1. See M. McCarthy, op.cit., p.36, and M.N. Kirmani, op.cit., p.376.

2. See H. Algar, op.cit., p.226; A. Kasravf,_lﬂj;l., p.24.

3. See M. Savory, "Persia", in The Cambridge History of Islam, Vol.Iji,
p-597; L.P. Elwell-Sutton, M.I., p.61 and Ha'iri, op.cit., p.109.

4. See E.G. Browne, P.R., pp.262,421 and M.N. kirmén?, op.cit.,
pp.66-68. -
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rule, security, justice and eventual freedom for Iran,ﬁdec]ared:

"We have learned about European countries which are
governed by democracy; we wish to have a real
constitutional government in Iran. We state
categorically that this would not involve any
conflict with Islam; rather that this type of
government would be in accord with religious law
and the Prophet's orders which decree that the rule

of law and justice should be administered to the

peop]e."]

Certain spiritual leaders, however, rejected the movement.
These spiritual leaders were generally from the wealthiest class,
or those who had control of 1ands2 held as religious Aygéj
(endowments). At the beginning of the movement many members of
this class had supported the people in their struggle for their
legal rights, but realising that their interests were endangered
by constitutional advance, they gradually left their former position,
and took the Shah's side. Among members of this group were
Mir Hashim and the Imam Jum'a of Tabriz.>  There was a certain
group of clergymen like Haji Mirza Hasan Mujtahid-i Tabriz and the
Imam Jum'a of Tehran for instance, who themselves were from the

highest feudal families of Iran, and had an inseparable connection

1. See N. Keddie, I.P., pp.150-60; A. Ha'iri, op.cit., p.183, for
more details see M. Pavlovich, S. Irénski and V. Terya, op.cit., p.42.
2. See F. Kazemzadeh, Russia and Britain in Persia, 1864-1914, p.545
and R. Rizazadi-yi Malik, op.cit., p.194.
3. See M.Q. Hidayat, Khatirat va Khatarat, p.172; M.B. Vijuya'i
Balwva-i Tabriz, p.23; A. Razi, op.cit., p.518.
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with the court. Others however like Tabé?abé'?,Bihbahén?,
Shaykh Salim, Malik al-Mutakallimin and Shaykh Muhammad Khiyabani
had a connection with the mass of the people. Their lives had no
apparent difference from those of the rest of the people and most
of them were at the service of the masses. As the constitutional
movement developed these two groups began to accuse each other of
deviating from Islam. The ideology of the second group was based
on the poor and labouring classes, while that of the first group,
lay in pressing the people to obey the court, making use of the
Quranic text; "0 ye who bé]ieve obey God and obey the Apostle,
and those charged with authority among you".1

At the beginning of the movement, one of the most famous
spiritual leaders who helped and supported the people greatly was
Shaykh Fazl-Allah-i Nuri, but Tike most of the other clergymen, he
changed his attitude and took a position which was against the movement
and the Iranian Revo]ution.2 There exists a letter which was written
by him to Mu§ﬂina1-3u1F5n (The Prime Minister) while there was an
anti-constitutional demonstration going on at the Bagh-i Shah in

Tehran. In this letter Shaykh Fazl-Allah expresses his aims3 and

1. Quran, 5:59.

2. See E.G. Browne, P.R., p.148; M.B. Vijuya'i, op.cit., pp.14,15
and M.N. Kirmani, op.cit., pp.545-560.

3. See H. Mu®asir, Tarikh-i Istiqrar-i Mashritiyyat, Vol.II,

(Tehran, 1956), pp.1002-3. See also, R. Ra'is Niya and
A. Nahid, Du Mubariz-i Junbish-i Mashruta, p.38.
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point of view, and his support for the §b§h and his disagreement
with the constitutional laws. Kasravi's view of the members of
this class, particularly Shaykh Fazl-Allah, is interesting.
Kasravi believes that the Shaykh had another aim in his mind. He
Tiked to live at ease, comfortably at his pleasure leading a
Tuxurious 1ife and 1iving in a fabulous building. He had built a
park (Park Al-Shari“d) and possessed many coaches, owned much
property and was living aristocratically. He was genuinely
interested in establishing Islamic laws in theory, but we have to
realize that the country and nation had no value in his mind as
compared to his personal we11—be1ng.]

Newspapers explained the aims and content of the proposed
constitutional reform. Reactionary clergy spoke 6ut'emphatica11y
against it and managed to persuade some of the erstwhile supporters
of reform to oppose the movement. It is said that as soon as they
spoke about developing the country, the power of the masses, the
proposed education of girls or the possibility of sending students
to Western countries, the reactionary clergy saw these suggestions

as a turning away from religion and abandoning the law of Is1am.2

1. See A. Kasravi, T.M.I., p.287.

2. See L. Lockhart "The Constitutional Laws of Persia", M.E.J.
19, 1918, p.376; M. Pavlovich, op.cit., pp.48,81; A. Qasimi,
op.cit., p.25 and H. Alsar, op.cit., p.233 and see also
A. Kasravi, Zindagani-yi Man, (Tehran 1945), p.31.

16



On the other hand, there are other views which completely
differ from the above argument.  Although Shaykh Faz1-Allah allied
himself with the other two Mujtahids, Tabé?abé'? and Bihbahani,
and supported the reform of the constitution, he turned against the
constitution, when the supplementary fundamental Taw was approved
in 1907."

Shaykh Faz1-Allah was supported by other famous Mujtahids
such as ﬁéj? Sayyid Muhammad Kazim Tabﬁ@abé'?-yi Yazdi and other
religious leaders such as Shaykh CAbU al-Hasan Marandi and
Mir Hashim.  This was the first effective setback which the new
Iranian Constitutional regime suffered.

There were meanwhile, other clergy who put themselves at the
service of the people and worked hard to achieve a constitution,
Ryat Allah Sayyid Muhammad Tabé?abé'? was one of these.®

A final element in bringing about the campaign for constitutional
reform was the influence of the revolutionary movements abroad.

Foremost among these were the revolutionary activities in Russia and

Ottoman empire, which particularly influenced the people of

1. For more details see M. Malik Zada, Tarikh-i Ingilab-i

Mashruta-yi Iran, Vol.IV, pp.209-220.

2. See N.R. Keddie, I.P., pp.234-5, Y. Aryan Pur, op.cit., p.236;
M. Malik Zada, op.cit., p.263,
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ﬁg@rbéyjén, whose province bordered on these areas.] Merchants
also gained enlightenment when they travelled to Russia, and

compared and contrasted their home situation with that in other
countm’es.2 A1l of these diverse elements combined to inspire
the constitutional movement which roused Iran from the sleep of

centuries.

THE CONSTITUTIONAL MOVEMENT .

We have now examined the background causes of the constitutional
movement. There was however a particular incident which finally

gave the movement the impetus it needed to translate thought into
action.  The Régie (Tobacco monopoly) episode of 1891 made people
realize that it was possible to combat the ruler who oppressed them.
In the Régie Agreement, a monopoly of the purchase and sale of tobacco
was given to a British merchant. The people opposed this agreement
and Nasir al-Din Shah was finally obliged to cancel it.>  This

outcome made the people realize that it was possible to gain their

1. See N.K. Belova, Revolyutisonnoye pvizheniye V Iranskom

Azerbaydzhane, pp.7-8; A. Kasravi, T.M.I., pp.268,272 and
I. Safa’i, Rahbaran-i Mashrutd, Vol.1, p.35.

2. See N. Keddie, I.P., pp.455,57,59.

3. See L.P. Elwell-Sutton, M.I., p.305; M. Davudi, op.cit., p.58
and Sh. Bakhash, op.cit., p.305. For more details see
M.N. Kirmani, op.cit., pp.36-42.
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legal rights by perseverance and persistence in face of the king
and his despotic court.]

The Iranian Constitutional Revolution began in December 1905
with massive demonstrations in Tehran. The people were demanding
the dismissal of the reactionary and despotic prime minister,

CAyn al-Dawld, and that:

"Be]gian2 employees should be dismissed from
government positions, and that a court should
be established to investigate the people's

complaints and to ensure that the law worked

fairly for everyone."3

This mevement quickly spread to other parts of Iran, especially
Tabriz. The people made more demands. They wanted constitutional
laws to be drawn up, an effective parliament to be formed and the
rights of private ownership secured.4

The movement gathered momentum.  Young intellectuals and
even some students studying abroad left their books to join in the
struggle.  Patriotic clergy 1ike Ayat Allah Sayyid Muhammad
Tabataba'i and Ayat Allah Sayyid “Abd Allah Bihbahani were at the

forefront of the battle, providing leadership in the struggle for

1. See E.G. Browne, P.R., p.119; A. Bausani, The Persians, Tr. from
the Italian by J.B. Downe, p.169 and “A. Parviz, Tarikh-1

Tamaddun-i Jadid-i Dunya va Iran, p.538.
2. See a full account A. Kasravi, T.M.I., pp.29,34,37.

3. See M. “Abbasi, op.cit., p.67; A. Qasimi, op.cit., pp.14.15.
4. See M.S. Ivanov , T.N.I., p.17; A. Kasravi, T.M.I., p.162 and
A. Kasravi, Z.M, p.129.
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freedom and legal rights in the spirit of the great Amir Kabir.
Leading intellectuals in Tabriz demanded constitutional laws for

Iran.]

Under increasing daily pressure, on August 5, 1906 Muzaffar
al-Din Shah finally issued a decree conferring Iranian Constitutional
Laws. This temporarily satisfied the people, but it soon became
obvious that this decree was not going to fulfil any promises.
Muzaffar al-Din Shah was a sick and a weak® man who had issued
the order merely to quiet the people.

The nobles and CAyn al-Dawla in particular would certainly not
agree to it. What happened was that anybody caught talking about
freedom or even justice was sent to prison by order of CAyn al-Dawla;
and any meeting held to discuss people's rights was broken up with
vio]ence.3

Once awakened from their sleep of centuries, however, the people
could not be so easily subdued. Activities and discussion continued
and the country seemed set on the course of revolution.

Eventually, on September 9, 1906, Muzaffar al-Din Shah gave
permission for an elected assembly. Despite some reservations, this
was a major victory for the people in the face of opposition from

the despotic court, King and prime minister.

1. See
' _ . Tah1r Zada-yi
B1hzad op.cit., pp.50,57 and A KasraV1, T.M.I., pp.15,156,906.
2. Sukhan, (Tehran 1953), No.6, p.369.

3. A. Qasimi, op.cit., p.13 and A. Kasravi, T.M.I., pp.415,418.
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Clergy like Shaykh Fazl Allah Nuri, a favourite at court' and
opponent of the constitutional movement, were banished. Finally,
on December 30, 1906, the Iranian Constitutional Law was approved
and signed by Muzaffar al-Din Shah.

Newspapers and other publications continued to play a leading
role in informing and educating the people. In the years of
revolution there were many publications in Iran; about three
hundred and fifty papers and magazines were printed, one hundred and
fifty in Tehran and Fifty in Tabriz.’

The first parliament in which sat many of the most dedicated
and politically aware members passed some useful laws. Life
pensions held by the aristocracy were cancelled, the problem of
corruption was tackled and feudal lords were dismissed.

The court and the aristocracy in general reacted swiftly. They
began to plot against the very foundations of the constitution with
the help of Muhammad “a1i Shah who was crowned after the death3

of his father Muzaffar al-Din Shah on 8.1.1907.

1. See M. Bahar, Tarikh-i Mukhtasar-i Ahzab-i Siyasi, Vol.1, p.168,

and N. Fathi, Zindagi Nama-yi Siqat al-Islam Shahid, p.184,

where the author declares: "To destroy the constitution,

Muhammad AT Shah, had guaranteed T.40,000, of vihich Shaykh Fazl
Allah had received T.28,000...", and see also, M.N.I. Kirmani,
Tarikh-i Bidari-yi Iranian, p.563.

2. For a full and valuable account see E.G. Browne, The Press and
Poetry of Persia, and also see M. “A. Tarbiyat, op.cit., pp.405-414.

3. See F. Adamiyyat, op.cit., pp.330-31 and M. Kirmani, op.cit.,
pp.193-201.
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In the middle of all this Russia now began to interfere
actively again in Iran's internal affairs. On June 23rd 1908,
the Shah's reactionary troops and the anti-revolutionary forces
carried out a coup d'état in Tehran. The National Assembly was
bombarded by Lyakhov.] Newspapers were banned and local associations
were closed down. Tabriz rebelled at this threat to the
constitutional gains and tried to make its own revolution.
Muhammad ‘a1i Shah sent “Ayn al-Dawla with a large number of troops
to quell the rebellion. They were supported by Mir Héiﬁim,z a
leading reactionary cleric in Tabriz.

The troops surrounded the city but the people resisted and
CAyn al-Dawla was forced to return to Tehran. Defence forces 1in
Tabriz were led by Sattars Khan, Bagir Khan and Shaykh Muhammad
Khiyabani who were determined not to give in. Tabriz was besieged
for eleven months.  The people suffered and starved but would not

submit.  They gained valuable experience in resisting oppression

1. See W.M. Shuster, op.cit., p.40; A. Qasimi, op.cit., 35; M.
Rizvani, op.cit., pp.170-72 and K. Tahirzada-yi Bihzad, op.ci
pp.119-121. ' o

2. See R. Ra'is Niya, A. Nahid, D.M., p.24; 1. Safa'i, op.cit.,
p.436 and A. Qasimi, op.cit., p.33. . -

3. Sattar Khan was the leader of the Tabriz volunteer fighters.
After Muhammad ca13 Shah's coup d'état in 1908, all Iran except
one quarter in Tabriz came under the Shah and here, Sattar Khan
refused to give up. He was an illiterate man of the people,
and was a horse-seller before the Iranian Constitutional
Revolution. (Photograph p.210 )

t

.
3
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and the might of the court, and were an examp]e] to the rest of
the country. The stand taken by the Tabrizis against the
despotic rule of those years played a considerable role in
preserving the constitutional revolution in Iran and prevented it
from collapsing until its final downfa11.2

The spirited defence of Tabriz gave fresh hope and inspiration
to Iran.  When the coup d'état took place it had seemed that civil
liberty was at an end but the stand taken by Tabriz Anjuman
(Political Society) revived the idea of constitutional government.

On July 9, 1909, Gilani insurgents commanded by Sipahdar and
Bakhtiyaris commanded by Samsam al-Saltana approached Tehran to
face government troops defending the Shah.

Muhammad a3 §h§h was forced to flee to the Russian Embassy.3
A council made up of ex-members of the Majlis, “Ulama and Military
leaders then voted to depose Muhammad a1y §h§h and replaced him by
his fourteen year old son, Ahmad Shah.

Muhammad °A17 Shah was sent into exile. He went to Russia

and raised another force, but failed in his efforts to destroy the

1. See Markazi Tablighat Shu®basinin Nashriyyasi, "Shahrivarin On

Tk1s1" 1324-1325 (Tabriz 1981), p.25; M.N. Kirmani, op.cit.,
p.201, and for more details see A. Qasimi, op.cit., pp.17,28,34,35.
2.5 e - o L
R. Ra'is Niya / A. Nahid, D.M., pp.54,222.
3. See - S

\ S , _ K. Tahir Zida-yi
Bihzad, op.cit., p.125 and M. Pavlovich /S. Iranski /v. Terya,
op.cit., p.93.
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revolutionaries. The Majlis then cancelled his regular annual
salary. His brother sardar Asad attacked the revolutionary
forces from Kirmanshah in the West but,he too, was unsuccessfu].]
Thus by 1914 Iran seemed set fair on a course to success and
achievement but, unfortunately, the outbreak of World War I dashed

all her hopes.

“The Iranian Government made a feeble gesture of
neutrality, which the belligerants with one accord
decided to ignore. The North-West became a
battleground for Russian and Turkish armies; 1in
the South British troops operated to prevent a
Turkish thrust towards Afghanistan and German
agents (supported by Swedish gendarmeries) stirred
up trouble among the tribes.“2

During the disastrous war, Iran became a battlefield for the
different warring factions. The Iranian people who had recently
had cause to celebrate their release from the clutches of
Muhammad A1i Shah, saw all their gains nullified and rendered void.

Iran sank back into her previous hopeless and distressed state.
Poverty and hunger were again on the increase and epidemics were

e 3
rife. Apart from her permanent guests, Russia and Britain, Iran

1. See 7 R _ L

M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., p.26 and A. Qasimi,
op.cit., p.49.

2. See L.P. Elwell-Sutton, M.I., p.66; Sir Percy Sykes, H.P.,
Vol.2, p.263 and A. Jahan Bani, op.cit., p.20. o

3. See M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., pp.11,28, for more details see also,
M. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., pp.668-704.
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now found herself playing host to representatives from Germany

and Turkey. The latter saw the war as an opportunity to pursue
its dreams of Pan-Turkism but any hopes that the Tabriz insurgents
would join Turkey were soon disappointed and the Turks were

forced to leave Iran.]

The Germans were involved in Iran because they realized the
country's importance as a gateway to India, Britain's main colony
in the East, and because Germany and Britain were rivals in the
competition to market their goods in Iran. Before the war was
over, Russian involvement in Iran came to a halt because of the
Russian Revolution. With their defeat, Germany and Turkey also
had finally to leave the country.2 It seemed that Iran might be
left in peace, but, unfortunately, the 1919 agreement once again
disturbed the political atmosphere.3

Finally it should be noted that the two super-powers'
interference in Iran's affairs and her constitutional movement
drove many intellectuals and militants to opposition both to the
Iranian regime and to its foreign backers. One of these opponents
was Shaykh Muhammad Khiyabani, whose Tife and political activities

will be the concern of the following chapters.

1. See M.S. Ivanov, T.N.I., p.26.

2. See M. Kumaramangalam, Iran at the Crossroads, p.6; M.S. Ivanov,
T.N.I., p.26 and A. Kasrayi, T.H.S.A., pp.705-714.

3. This will be discussed in detajl in the following chapter.
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Chapter 2

EARLY LIFE OF KHIYABANI

Shaykh Muhammad Khiyabani was born in 1889 in the village of
Egémina in Azerbaijan.] His father “Abd a?—Ham?d was a merchant
who traded with Russia. Khiyabani after spending some time at

a Maktab (religious school) in Khamina, went to Petrovsk

(modern Makhach Kala, in Daghistan) to join his father. Khiyabani
finished his secondary studies in the latter town. Because of
his father's acquaintance with liberal intellectuals, Khiyabani
was able to meet Mirza “Abd a1-Rah?m Talibov and became a close
friend of this revolutionary poet and intellectual. Khiyabani's
friendship with revolutionary activists in Petrovsk turned him
into a revolutionary. After a while Khiyabani came back to
Tabriz where he studied philosophy with Mirza Isma“i1,
mathematics with 553% Najm al-Dawla, history and geography with
Mirza Riza Khan Muhandis-i Qarajadaghi, and religious science
with Haji Mirza “Abd al-Hasan Aga Mujtahid-i Angaji. He became

extremely proficient in all of these subjects and in addition

1. Few details are available of Khiyabani's life. Later writers such
as Azari and Tahir Zada-yi Bihzad have been able to add nothing new
to the account given by Badamchi in the Monograph devoted to
Khiyabani published by Iranschdhr in 1926 in which remains our
only source in Persian for this period and from which the
following account is taken.
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was fluent in French, Turkish, Arabic and Russian. | Khiyabani was
very interested in study. One of his teachers, Mirza Ism5C71,

said of him, "Mirza Muhammad Khiyabani is a clever and intelligent
student.  Whatever I taught him, he has learnt to perfection. It is
obvious that if he carries on as he has done so far, he will succeed me".
A remark like this from such a scholar is an important testimony to
Khiyabani's abilities.  Khiyabani married the daughter of Haji

Sayyid Husayn Aqa the Pishnamaz of Khamina and succeeded his father-

in-law as Pishnamaz (Prayer Leader) of the Masjid-i Jum“a-yi Tabriz

(Tabriz Friday mosque) and the Masjid-i Karim Khan (Karim Khan Mosque)

where his sermons are said to have attracted audiences of more than

one thousand, for four years. He had a brother who lived in Baku

and an uncle who was killed during the Russian Civil War in 1918 during
the shelling by Denikin's forces of Petrovsk. Khiyabani had six
children, four sons and two daughters. Five of these children are
still Tiving in Tabriz and Tehran while the other has recently

emigrated to Canada.

KHIYABANI'S POLITICAL LIFE UP TO THE AZERBAIJAN UPRISING

From his earliest days freedom and independence were consistent themes
running through ﬁﬂiyéban?'s life. He realised that a person must
struggle to gain his rights however difficult that struggle may be, and
in addition to his fight to change the way of thinking of his fellow
1 see B Brar ushlr, (ed.)

Azarbayjan Ruzmamasinin Nashriyyasi, (Baku, 1961), p.3.
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countrymen, he always showed himself ready to carry on the struggle
by the use of force if necessary.

Khiyabani was introduced to Siqat al-Islam, a famous religious
revolutionary figure of Azerbaijan, by Mustashar al-Dawla and had
connections with Haji “A17 Dawa Furush, one of the leading Social
Democrats of Azerbaijan and an active member of this Party.

Thus during the Iranian Constitutional Revolution, in which the
people of Tabriz fought bravely to restore the constitution,
Khiyabani fought rifle on shoulder along with Sattar Khan and
other patriotic volunteers against the anti-constitutional forces of
the central government.

During the Istibdad-i ngh?r,] along with Mirza Isma‘il

Haghtarﬁdi (a famous and courageous revolutionary.of Tabriz and
Tabriz deputy to the second Majlis of Iran) he carried the Bayrag-i
Kaviyani beside Sattar Khan and other revolutionaries, who were
proposing to march on Tehran to impose the nation's demands on
Muhammad “a13 Shah. Muhammad 13 Shah no sooner received this
report than he agreed to put into effect the supplementary laws of
the constitution, which Khiyabani believed to be progressive laws

for the conditions of that period.

1. A period in which the Majlis was bombarded and many Iranian
1iberals were killed, after which the Majlis was shut down for
three months from June 1908.
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When Tabriz was surrendered by “Ayn al-Dawla, Khiyabani was
the representative of the Mujéhid?n (freedom fighters) who
negotiated with him in the face of his demands for Tabriz to submit.
He and his colleagues Mirza Muhammad Taqi Tabataba'i Ebétambagbgﬂz]
Husayn Khan-i “Adalat and Mirza Husayn Vécig refused to accept the

conditions of the central government and declared,

"we are not afraid of your powerful troops and heavy
artillery and we will not abandon our rights; we
want to have a govenment 1ike the European countries

and be strong like them and stand on our own feet

without any external inter‘fer‘ence".2

They fulfilled this promise, and resisted the central government
troops and, while they were surrounded, preferred to eat yunja
(Tucerne) in'thé lack of other food rather than submit.

Thus during this period Ehiy5b5n7 took part in the revolt of
a people who were oppressed and deprived of their rights, and
discharged his duty fully. It is presumably from this period that
he became politically aware and active, and during the following
years he was to assume a leading part in awakening and enlightening

the people.

THE TABRIZ ANJUMAN
The Tabriz Anjuman or council was founded in 1906, after the

establishment of the constitution. In the beginning, the only

1. See Appendix No.l.
2. °A. Azari, Qiyam-i Shaykh Muhammad Khiyabani, p.12.
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purpose of this council was to choose the Azerbayjan deputies
for the National Assembly. However this council eventually
became so powerful and dealt with so many important matters that
the crown Prince Muhammad CA]i, who was residing in Tabriz, was
obliged to accept its existence and to follow its orders.

The establishment of the Tabriz council brought a great deal
of improvement to Tabriz;

"The council dealt with the complaints of the Tabrizis.
Its members were broad-minded, liberal and well-informed
people.  Some of its members were the following:

Mirza Muhammad Taqi Tabataba i, Shaykh Muhammad Kh1yaban1
Shaykh Sa11m HaJ1 Isma 31 Amir Kh121 and Muhammad Husayn

Following the hoarding of certain vital provisions, especially
wheat, the council requisitioned this reserve of wealth and established
a fixed price for bread and meat. But the most important action of
the Tabriz council was to challenge Muhammad “A13 §E§h,who had now
succeeded his father, and his illegal activities. The leaders of the
council were attempting to put a stop to the §ﬁ5h's activities and
those of the local reactionary groups and the external enemies of the
country who supported him, while the reactionary and anti-
constitutional groups, who were helped by Russian funds and
encouraged by Muhammad ca13 §g§h, were working against the

constitution along with Shaykh Fazl Allah-i Nuri, culminating with

1. See K. Tahir Zada-yi Bihzad, op.cit., pp.=48-49.

30



the demonstration of Maydan-i Tupkhana, which took place in 1909.
The council took certain steps against the reactionary groups.
Ahmad Kasravi says of this event;

"In the event of the Tﬁpghéna some of the reactionary
rebels under the supervision of Shaykh Fazl Allah
were demonstrating against the constitution with the
encouragement of the Shah and financial aid from the
Russians and were demanding, 'we want the Prophet's

religion, and we are not interested in the

constitution.‘“]

Because of this event the Assembly and the Constitution were in a
dangerous position, and the Tabriz council carried out two
important tasks; they declared Muhahmad ari Shah . deposed, who had sworn
on the Quran to rule the country according to the constitution
but who had been involved in dishonest activities against the
country and the nation, and they informed the shah and all foreign
ambassadors in Iran of their action.

Furthermore, the Tabriz council instructed all the Azerbaijani
soldiers and officers who were in the service of Muhammad a3
§b§h not to obey him any longer; otherwise the council would arrest
their relations, destroy their property and sequestrate their wealth
if they did not recognize the power of the deputies of the Majlis.
As a result of these moves there was a great surge of pro-constitutional

activity among Iranians throughout the country.

1. R. Ra'is Niya, D.M., p.238.
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R. Ra®is Niya, writing about this incident, states;

"Muhammad ©A17 Shah in this situation, due to much
ha%assment, was losing his patience and was

obliged to ask the deputies to talk to the nation on
his behalf because the Tabriz council, through the

assembly, had even gone as far as to demand that

another king be chosen“.]

However, the Tabriz council stood firm and the Shah was forced to
ask for support from British and Russian representatives. In spite
of everything he clung to power, and although he had promised to
recognise the assembly and act in accordance with the constitution
he gave orders to destroy the assembly. The Tabriz council assumed
its duties and they informed all embassies in Iran of this matter.
Muhammad “a13 Shah knew the Tabrizis very well, as he had ruled

in Tabriz when he was still crown prince. He was absolutely aware
of the fact that he would never be able to impose his dictatorship
on the country without much resistance from such a people. The
following lines from H. Taqizada may help us to understand the
position further.

"...One day Majid al-Mulk, who was a close friend of
Muhammad “A13 Shah said that the king and his associates
haé been discussing the people's wishes. The king said;
'‘my greatest wish is to be ruler of Kirman'. This
claim surprised them very much and they felt much
unhappiness on hearing it. As we know Tabriz has
always been the pride of Iran because of its resistance in
the face of despotism and its movements for freedom.

1. R. Ra“is Niya, D.M., p.40.
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We asked the king the reason for this wish. He
answered 'Don't be foolish!  There would be no
resistance in Kirman even if we were to skin them
alive, but the people of this city (Tabriz) are
emotiona]...“1

In order to inform people of what was happening in the capital,
the Tabriz council published pamphlets and asked people to take
notice of what was going on and to gather in the mosques. They
taught people how to use a rifle and how to defend themselves.
Through these activities, which were directed by the politically
conscious and well-informed leaders of Tabriz such as Muhammad
Khiyabani and Mirza Muhammad Taqi Tabé?abé'? (chairman of the Tabriz
council and also the Tabriz deputy for the fourth assembly) they
would, they hoped, be able to defeat despotism and all those who
were reactionary and anti-constitutional.2

K.T. Bihzad in his interesting work on this council and its
activities states that

“in fact the Tabriz council was the only Iranian political
force to resist in the face of an arbitrary government.
During the 11 months in which it was surrounded by the Shah's
troops, Tabriz was still the only city tb maintain the
constitution and keep it alive, putting up a brave
resistance. Most of the decisions made in this council
were proposed by Sayyid Hasan Taqi Zada who was one of

Iran's most famous politicians. His speeches were tough
and effective - M. “A17 Shah would say let's have our
supper, if Taqi Zada will allow us'. The Tabriz

1. H. Taqi Zada, Khatabaha-yi Sayyid Hasan Tagizada Mushtamalbar

Shamma'i Az Tarikh-i Avayil-i Ingilab-i Mashrutiyyat-i Iran

(Tehran 1958), p.58.
2. °A. Azari, Kulunil Muhammad Taqi Khan-i Pisyan, p.71.
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council had asked all newspaper correspondents
throughout the world to come and see what was going

on in Tabriz. The Islamic Council had been acting
against the constitution and this centre of aggression
was destroyed in Ramazan and closed down forever".]

RUSSIAN INTERFERENCE IN TABRIZ

During this period Tabriz in particular suffered many upheavals and
disturbances provoked by foreign interference. Especially brutal
and tragic in its results was Russian intervention. Russia took

a great part in the events of these years, including the dividing
of Iran between herself and Great Britain in 1907 and 1915 and the
bombardment of the Majlis by Lyakhov by which he hoped to destroy
the Iranian constitutional base and Iranian hopes for constitutional
progress.  The suppression of the liberals and patriots of Tabriz
in 1908-9 was carried out only because the Tabrizis were demanding
their legal rights of Constitutional Law and Assembly. In order
to enforce this the Russians sent three divisions from Yerevan and
Tiflis to Tabriz. On this occasion Tabriz became a slaughterhouse
of the liberals. A number of books which analyse this event in
Tabriz show us the magnitude of the Russian interference with the
Tabrizis. The most valuable of these accounts is that given by

E.G. Browne, who explains these events much more fully than

1. See K. Tahir Zada-yi Bihzad, op.cit., p.150.
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anybody e]se.] When the Russians discovered that they would not

be able to achieve their aims through their local agents, they
decided to operate directly themselves. At this period, §amad
Khan-i §huj5c al-Dawla was in open revolt against the constitution
and the liberals. The Russians openly protected him and supported
him indirectly until they realized that.the Tabrizis were determined
to resist their aggressive aims. The Russians then started to
arrest and imprison the liberals? and Mujahidin (freedom fighters)
and occupied the important points in the city. By the beginning of
February, refugees from Tabriz were arriving in Constantinople, and
one of these refugees reported all of the events which were happening

in Tabriz. This account was published in the Manchester Guardian

of February 9, 1912, with the help of E.G, Browne.3 While discussing
this aggression, we should mention some of the patriotic Tabrizis who
lost their lives for the sake of freedom. Those who were hanged in
December 1911 were the two brothers Hasan and Qadir, the sons of

“A17 Monsieur, Shaykh Salim, Sidiq al-Mulk, Kazim Zada, Ziya"

al-“Ulama and his uncle and finally Sigat al-Islam.

1. E.G. Browne is the only person who has given an accurate and full
account of the Iranian constitutional events outside Iran. There
are also a few historians writing in Persian whose works are valuable
and useful, e.g. Kasravi and Bihzad.

2. In this period Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla was the Foreign Minister. In answer to
the Tabrizis' appeal for help against the Russian tortures and killings,
his only reply was to blame them for fighting against the Russians.

See Yaghma, No.37, (Tehran 1951), pp.230-231.

3. The original reports are kept at the library of Cambridge University.
These valuable and important letters were presented by Professor
E.G. Browne to this Library. They have been published under the title
of Namaha'i Az Tabriz (letters from Tabriz) by H. Javadi.
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ﬁasan was sixteen years old and his brother was twelve. Their
offence was merely that their elder brother was one of the Mujahidin
who was not captured by the Russians. They were the first
sacrifices. ﬁasan bravely climbed on the chair and cried "Long
live Iran, Long live freedom", then he was hanged, before Qadir's
eyes. While his elder brother was in his death-throes, the younger
brother was prepared for hanging. He repeated what his brother had
said and shouted, "down with Russia". Siqat al-Islam having prayed,
was the third in this tragic event. He declared, "It is our
pleasure to be killed by the enemies of our religion on this day".
Then Siqat al-Islam personally put the rope round his neck and the
hanging took place. Kasrayi, who was an eyewitness of these tragic
days, describes an execution as follows;

"...first Mashhadi “Aml Ugh1i came bravely and climbed
up on a chair and put the noose round his neck, took
off his hat and threw it in the face of a Russian officer
who was in charge, then immediately pushed away the chair

which was holding his body; after a while, he was dead.

He lived bravely and died generous]y.“2

The Tabrizis who were executed by the Russians numbered forty
two.  This figure does not include those who were killed by the
Russians during the fighting. The next shock produced by Russia
was the 1911 ultimatum in which Russia put forward the following

demands;

1 See A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., p.369
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The Persian Government should dismiss Mr W.M. Shuster;

The Persian Government should undertake to appoint no
foreigners in government service without previously consulting
the Russian and British‘ministers in future; and the

Iranian government should pay an indemnity for the expenses
involved in the despatch of the Russian expedition.

It was not possible for the people to endure such demands, indeed

it was a matter of life and death; acceptance of this ultimatum

would have meant that Iranian independence3 and the country itself
would no longer exist. Many thinking Iranians were affronted by

this ultimatum which they saw as yet another example of foreign
interference. In the National Parliament of Iran, Shaykh

Muhammad Khiyabani, who was the deputy for Tabriz in the second period
of the parliament, declared that he was amazed at this note which

had been delivered by Russia. The frlis /iy i e froctraslation of his speech:

From the hour that this note from the Russian Government
was read in a special session of the Majlis and we learned
about the contents of the note, since then, I, as an
Iranian, am in a state of astonishment and shock. For
when I think about the question in this

note I realise that this is not simply an article of

law about which we must sit and discuss. All gentlemen
here and even all the world if it were present here

could agree that there are some questions in the world

1. Although this event is known as the Russian ultimatum, we should,
nevertheless, realize that it was given by both Russia and
Britain to Iran.

2. See Banani, op.cit., p.37; E.G. Browne, The Persian Crisis of

December 1911, p.14 and W.M. Shuster, op.cit., p.37.
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whose answers have been given three or four hundred years
ago and have been approved universally in the high

courts of the world... the question is this: when

human beings appeared on earth and laid the foundation

of finding food and existence, obviously there was an

age of barbarism - that is to say every man
instinctively desired to acquire anything which attracted
him or her and rejected laws and regulations. This
selfish drive in man has been the cause of conflict and war.
In order to free themselves from such a situation they,
thousands of years ago, gathered together and formed
governments. This was done to protect what is in the
interest of man and reject what is against the human
interest. In order to prevent aggression by one group
against another group and in order to make man realize
his own rights, national and social governments were
formed.  However this did not stop people from being
aggressive and war mongers, and conflict among nations
existed and continued. They plundered each other, and
what an individual naturally used to do, the same was
done by nations. One nation tried to destroy another

or reduce it to poverty. But fortunately now we live in
an age in which nations have sat and agreed upon certain
international laws which should be obeyed. These Taws
are being gradually observed and I hope will continue to
be observed. Now if one nation treats another nation as
was done a thousand years ago and expects her demands to
be fulfilled, then we have to say that history has
answered this kind of relationship four hundred years ago.
We have to tell a demanding nation politely, 'your demand
is contrary to the present age and contrary to all
agreements made on the world level'. Now we return to
the subject of demands that have been put forward by the
Russian government to the Iranian government. There are
a few points that perhaps other persons might describe
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and discuss. I shall express the matter as I feel.

There has been an agreement made in the world and taken for
granted, that is, that anyone who possesses something which
is transfered to or acquired by him lawfully, he or she has
the right to protect and keep this thing and to have all
freedom to do with his possession whatever he Tlikes.

'This is called independence.' That is to say every
individual has the right to use his property as he wishes.
It is the same with social matters - namely with
governments. A government is indepdendent when it can
control all its possessions freely. When it is slightly
in danger of being harmed it should be able to defend
itself. Now as I pointed out before, no-one has a right
to deprive others of independence and freedom unless he
thinks in terms of two thousand years ago. Regardless

of the long history of Iran, 6000 years old, Iran has
formed a government and is one of the founders of social
law and order. Now anybody realizes this, that the
demands that have been put to Iran are contrary to her
freedom and independence. I do not want to discuss

these demands in detail; the time is short, and my

friends will discuss it in detail, but one of the articles
in the Russian Ultimatum is this, that 'if the Iranian
Government wishes to employ any advisors she should consult
both the Russian and British Governments'. This means
that if they do not agree then Iranian Government can not
take any action. Well, in this world in which there is so
much trade, commercial and financial relationships, if
someone sees that his freedom and independence are slightly
threatened he has the right to protest and say that his
interests are based on universal agreements. [ as a
representative of a nation . which has acquired these rights
thousands of years ago say that so far we have been
independent; that is to say we can protect the rights and
advancement of our country. If we now accept this
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ultimatum, which we have not experienced before;

then the independence of our country will suffer.

This means they will not allow us to think about and
prepare for the advancement and independence of our
own country.  With the utmost courage and with the
utmost regret and with the utmost open heart I must
tell our neighbour government that it is never
possible for a nation which regards itself as a

1iving one, to transfer her own responsibility to
others. Finally I must add that since these

demands will damage the independence of Iran, there

is not any doubt and it is impossible that Iran would
accept this demand willingly; and I am sure that the
Russian Government, in view of her friendship with
Iran and her efforts to improve this friendship will
realize that this demand is contrary to the
universally accepted agreements among nations, and
contrary to all statements expressed by Russia as
regards Iranian independence. I hope that this demand
will be withdrawn and that Iranians' feelings will not
be hurt; and I hope that the honourable ministers will
go along with the nation and Majlis in order to reject
this Russian demand."

Persian Parliamentary Documents 1911
Although as we have seen the Majlis rejected the ultimatum
Muhammad CA17 Shah with the aid of Lyakhov shut down the second
Majlis.  Khiyabani then made another speech against this ultimatum

at Sdbza Maydan (a square in Tehran). Afterwards, on government

orders, he was forced to leave Tehran for Mashhad. In the meantime
some of Khiyabani's friends were arrested and some banished to Qum
and Kashan. After a few months' stay at Mashhad, Khiyabani

decided to visit Tabriz. He travelled to Julfa via Southern
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Russia, a route which was rather safer than travelling through
Iran. In Julfa he was advised to go to Petrovsk where his father
had a business and not to visit Tabriz. In Tabriz there was no
protection from the government's officers and the Russian
appointed agent Shuj a“al-Dawla, a man who was known to be cruel
and oppressive and to be anti-constitutional. After a few years
sojourn at Petrovsk and Baku he returned home, but because of the
terrible situation in Tabriz, there was no chance of political
activity among the people.  Shuj a* al-Dawla dominated Tabriz
until 1917, the year in which the Tzarist Government collapsed.

The collapse brought a ray of hope to the people of Tabriz who
were struggling to survive in the hands of a despotic government
and its agents. Indeed, the onset 6f fhe Russian revolution
helped to change the whole political atmosphere of Iran, particularly
Tabriz, because the most aggressive and disruptive oppressor of

Iran had been greatly weakened.

THE FORMATION OF THE ANJUMAN-I AYALATI VA VILAYATI

We have studied in the previous chapter the various events which
followed the fourth election to the Majlis and led to Khiyabani's
rising. On July 2, 1917 a manifesto was published by the committee
of the Azerbaijan AXélEE.WhiCh can be summarised as follows:

Dear fellow countrymen, The period of the great Iranian
Revolution, in which there was such anarchy and bloodshed,
is now over. In order to prevent the return of such a dark
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situation which threatens our independence and freedom;
and in order for the Ayalat committee to control the
governmental officials according to the Iranian
Constitutional Law; 1in order to rebuild our ruined
country and prevent the interference of such
unauthorised people in the governmental departments,

we would Tike to hold an election to select the
members of the Anjuman-i Ayalati va vilayati who

are famous for being honest, active and patriot
‘s 1
personalities.

On July 12, 1917 the Committee sent a telegram to Tehran
stating its demands as follows:

"There is no need to describe Azerbaijan's necessities;
the harsh conditions in Azerbaijan are obvious to our
government, nevertheless, due to the lack of objection
and protest by Azerbaijanis no attention is paid to by
the government to this province. We as the deputies of
the people will not leave the Telegraph Office, unless
you seriously examine our demands as follows:

a. the appointment of a wise and responsible governor-
general who is trusted by the people.

b. the appointment of officials to the Azerbaijan
finance and justice departments.

c. the sending of a committee for the Gendarmerie in
order to build up security both outside and inside
of Azerbaijan.

Signed by the representatives of the people, Shaykh

Muhammad Khiyabani, Muin al-Ra3 ya, MuCtamad al-

Tujjar, Mushir al-Sadat and Mirza Jafar Javan... ."2

1. See “A. Azari, Q.Kh., p.163.
2. See °A. Azari, op.cit., pp.109-110.
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Meanwhile elections were held in Tehran in August 1917 but
the date of elections was not announced for other provinces. On
September 1, 1917 another telegram was sent to Tehran by the

Anjuman-i Ayalati committee in regard to the delay of elections

in Azerbaijan. According to the Iranian Constitutional Law,
fifteen days after elections in the capital, the other provinces
must hold elections, but this did not take place either in the
other provinces or in Azerbajjan.

In response to the telegrams from the Anjuman-i Ayalati the

following telegram was sent by the government to Tabriz:

"To prevent a crisis, the Prime Minister has agreed
to appoint as soon as possible a governor-general

whom Anjuman-i Azarbayjan wanted...

0f these events Tajaddud, the official organ of the Democrat party,

wr'ote:2

"...The spirit of democracy and revival has suffered from
the events which have taken place in our country. There
was no way to freedom unless society was in a normal
situation. We democrats would not wish to live in this
poisoned atmosphere and stand these conditions any more.
We would 1ike to ask our responsible government to put an
end to this abnormal position and we democrats hereby
announce that we reject this and are going to challenge
it through our democracy."3

On August 23, 1917 the Anjuman-i Azrbaijan published its

policy which briefly runs as follows:

1. See “A. Azari, Q.Kh., p.l121.
2. See p.141 of this thesis.
3. See “A. Azari, op.cit., p.146.
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1. Azerbaijan and its policy: They declared that Azerbaijan was

inseparable from the rest of Iran and neither external powers nor
internal reactionary groups had the right to destroy their freedom.
The Democrat Party of Azerbaijan wished to take steps on the path
to revival and declared its opposition to the present anarchy in
Iran. The Ayalat Committee demanded the appointment of honest
governors who had demonstrated their good character. As regards
the tribes they frankly demanded of them that they should live in
peace and not be permitted to make trouble for others, and finally
they stated that they would react against those who opposed them.

2. Concerning the Parliament elections: The Committee declared

that, due to the importance of the National Parliament in which all
laws were drawn up and put in action; according to the Iranian
Nation's demands, the Committee asked for quick elections. At the
time of elections the democrats would work to support their own Party's
representatives to the Majlis.

3. The importance of the District and Provincial Anjumans: The

Anjuman-i Ayalati-yi Azarbaijan realized that how important were the

district and provincial Anjumans, and the Committee therefore
immediately took steps in the Tatter mentioned Anjumans.

4. The Ayalat Committee and the recent Revolution in the U.S.S.R.:

Since the Iranian and Russian Nation's relations were close and
friendly, in accordance with both nations' struggle against their
despotic governments, the Committee was pleased to announce how
grateful they were for the recent Revolution in the Soviet Union.
They accordingly wanted to further activities and relations between
the two nations.
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5. Discipline in the Party: Since discipline was an important

matter for any party, the Committee noted its importance and asked
its members to put themselves in order as quickly as possible.

6. The Democrats and other Parties: As regards the other Parties

in the country the Committee asked for their co-operation and that
they should all work together for the Iranian Nation's prosperity.]
Despite these activities oflﬁhjyébén? and other democrats in

the Anjuman-i Ayalati-yi Azarbayjan, anarchy still existed at an

extreme level. The people of Garus who were being plundered by the
tribes took refuge in Tabriz where many of them were forced to beg
and were reduced to a desperate situation. Urumiya was burnt down
and its Eégég was plundered and set on fire by the Russians; in
Ahar the situation was so bad that local §h§h Savan tribesmen rebelled;
in Miyana Mugtadir Nigém the governor-general had caused many troubles
for the people; 1in Tabriz a demonstration took place against the
injustice committed by governmental officials; in other cities and
villages of ﬁgerbaijan conditions were the same as in Tabriz.
Meanwhile in other cities, apart from ﬁggrbaijan, particularly in
Tehran, terrorism was rife; the American Consul was killed by a group
of people; Matin al-Su]?an, director of the newspaper CAgr-i Jadid,
Muntakhab al-Dawla, Ahmad Khan-i Safa, Mushir Zada and Abu al-Fath
and some others also were killed by a "Committee" in Tehran and

other cities. The members of this Committee who called themselves

1. Tajaddud, 1,6,1296 (20.8.1917).
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Kumita-yi Mujazat (Punishment Committee) were Mirza Ibrahim

Khan-i Munshi Zada, Asad Allah Khan-i Abu al-Fath Zada and
Muhammad Nazar Khan-i Mishkdt.!

World War I caused a great deal of hardship in Iran. The
allied forces who were using Iran as a supply route to Russia, and
the famine of 1917 in Azerbaijan had a dire affect on the living
conditions of the people, which were made much worse by hoarders
and greedy merchants. The people suffered both physically and
spiritually, that is to say, not only did they live in misery and
want, but were treated cruelly by the allied forces. Tajaddud
protested against this situation in the following words:

"...Young men of the South! shame on you who are co-operating
with foreigners. Are you not traitors to the country?.
Be aware that the democracy of Iran is not going to forget
traitors to Iran. There has occurred an unbelievable
incident which has saddened your hearts. Two days ago
while a 15 year-old boy was. sel1ing bread, he was
stopped by some British soldiers who attempted to rape
him.  The boy resisted so one of the soldiers cut his
throat. When some Shirazis appeared who were passing
by chance, the soldiers left the boy but unfortunately he
soon died. This is a definite proof about these
gentlemen who are fighting in the name of humanity and
democracy and supposed to be protecting a poor nation's
m’ghts.“2

The opposition of the Azerbaijan Anjuman to the government
continued.  Although more telegrams were sent to Tehran and vice

versa, Khiyabani in a telegram in which he urged the government

1. See Iranschihr, No.14 (Berlin 1926); M.Q. Hidayat, Kh.Kh., p.309.

2. Tajaddud, 12/8/1296 (22.10.1917).
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to fulfill the demands of Azerbaijan and to pay particular
attention to the present situation declared,

"We did not think that the government representatives
were such negligent and thoughtless persons in
regard to the truth. I would 1ike to notify you
that most Azerbaijanis have noticed that the
present anarchy is caused by some reactionary
statesmen in the Cabinet. That is why we have
opposed the government and demanded our rights.
But unfortunately, the Cabinet openly tried to
ignore our needs. We would like to ask for the
formation of a Cabinet in which honest politicians
will take part as quickly as possible. Otherwise
we would think that the Cabinet is not interested
in Azerbaijanis' affairs. I am disappointed in
this policy and worried by this situation.
Khiyabani."'

Khiyabani received a reply to his telegram from Tehran which
admitted that there were reactionary elements in the government but

urged him to be patient;

(L4 -

...+. 1 am very surprised that although
you have been in the capital for a few years,..- --.
nevertheless you are complaining of the situation,
and similarly other Azerbaijanis do not look
seriously at the situation in Tehran. I do not deny
that there are some reactionary elements in the
Cabinet, but the spirit of freedom will never die
down and no pressure will be able to spoil the truth;
our kind and nationalist §D§h, in particular will

meet Iranians' demands. Zanjém’."2

p-J)

1. . g@r?, Q.Kh., p.163.
2. “A. Azari, op.cit., p.163.
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Khiyabani and other democrats in the Azerbaijan Anjuman
demanded the dismissal of the Cabinet in which nationalist
and honest statesmen had not taken part. After the passing
of some time the government not only had not met its promises
to the Azerbaijanis, but had delayed the holding of Majlis
elections in Azerbaijan. The communications between Azerbaijan
and the government were described by various newspapers in
Tehran.  Khiyabani and other democrats were condemned by the

press. Kawkab-i Iran on December 9, 1917 described

Khiyabani's activities as anarchy and declared:

"...how can we describe the existence of two
governments within one country? The answer
is very clear, anarchy, lack of government and
feuda]ism..."]

Nawbahar writes:

"...we do not believe in this government; there
has been a protest in Rasht; a rebellion took
place in Azarbayjan... We must await other acts

of opposition from other parts of Iran..."2

Like other papers, Sitara-yi' Iran anxiously warned the

government not to give further opportunities to the opposition

1. Kawkab-i Iran, December 7, 1917 (16.9.1296).
2. Nawbahar, December 8, 1917 (17.9.1296).
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and suggested that the Iranian government must pay more
attention to the situation. The government it stated

should show firmness and take drastic action against the
rebe]]ions.]

Iran in an article wrote:

".,.Iran is passing through abnormal days and,
in order to establish a powerful government,

she needs to form her cabinet from wise and

learned poh‘ticians...“2

In the meantime in Tabriz there was another meeting on
Monday December 22, 1917 at Tajaddud. First a short speech was
made by Mirza Taqi Khan-i Rafat, the second editor of Tajaddud,
addressing the Azerbaijanis and talking about their unfortunate
fate which had been caused by the plundering, killing and harsh
conditions to which they had been exposed. The second speaker,
Mirza Tsma®i1 Nawbari spoke about the democrats' activities in
Tabriz, stating that the activities of the democrats naturally
hindered the reactionary plans which the central government wanted

to carry out. Finally Karbala'i ©A17 Hariri gave another short

speech and mentioned the effective and useful role of the democrats

in the fall of the Cabinet.

Following this meeting a telegram was sent by the Committee to

Tehran in which the previous demands were once more repeated.

1. Sitara-yi-Iran, December 8, 1917 (17.9.1296).
2. Iran, December 11, 1917 (20.9.1296).
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However the government was involved in the First World War and
had 1ittle time to devote to internal policy. This development
was nevertheless obviously disturbing to the Cabinet. Russia
was absorbed with her revolution and struggling with World War I,
and in response to this Great Britain had adopted a more active
policy in Iran. According to Nawbah5r1, British troops advanced
in Sistan and increased their influence both in the East and the
West of the country, filling the vacuum created by the departure
of the Russians‘and establishing new bases. Five thousand
British troops were involved in Kirman, Shiraz, Sirjan and Bandar-i
CAbbas. Tajaddud on Wednesday February 27, 1918 wrote:

"...Britain was running a Cabinet in Tehran which
intended to destroy the country. But Azerbaijan
did not give them the opportunity and instead
demanded its rights. The reactionary religious
groups hatched satanic plots; tribes started to
create anarchy in the countryside; Britain was
effectively involved in the capital..."

Azerbaijan's opposition to the government and members of the
Cabinet was not superficial or based on likes or dislikes of
personalities, but was based on a political stand, being opposed to
the ruling government and their self interest.

"...Azerbaijan is not going to be an idle spectator

of the capital's politicians; instead, she will

rebel without any hesitation..."2

1. Nawbahar, (12.3.1918).
2. Tajaddud, February 27, 1918.

50



In Tehran, according to the Sitara-yi Iran, the following

demands were put to Sir Charles Marling the British Minister
Plenipotentiary: to leave the running of the Police in the South
to the Iranian Government and recall the British officers from that
area; to release all the currency belonging to Iran which was kept
at the Shahanshahi Bank, to evacuate Iranian territory as soon as
possible.

The situation in Iran was most unsatisfactory. On the one
hand the political atmosphere in the capital had caused instability
throughout Iran and on the other hand insecurity, lack of Taw and
order, famine and above all involvement in the World War I, had made
1ife difficult in general and in Azerbaijan in particular.

Khiyabani's activities were interrupted by the Turkish invasion
of Azerbaijan in 1918 which resulted in Khiyabani and two other
democrat leaders, Badamchi and Nawbari, being banished to Qars
in Turkey. This Turkish aggression coincided with a miserable
famine in which about ten thousand Iranians died. Despite these
circumstances in which every grain of wheat was equal to the life
of a human being the Turks nevertheless forcibly obtained their
requirements directly from the city granary without paying its price.
It became clear that the Turkish plan was not only to arrest and

punish the Assyrians, but to pursue their Pan-Turkist ideas. A

1. See The Sitara-yi Iran, March 18, 1918.




man called Yusuf Ziya Bayg was appointed by the Turks to establish

the Ittihad-i Islam (Pan Islam). The intention was to unite the

Turkish speaking people of Russian Azerbaijan, Iranian Azerbaijan and
the Turks of Turkey under the Turkish flag, into a new country in

the name of Pan Turkism.  The people of Tabriz led by Khiyabani and
his comrades resisted the Turkish demands. As a result, Khiyabani
Badamchi and Nubari were arrested and sent to Urumiyya. After two
months they were banished to Qars prison in Turkey and sentenced to
fifteen days in jail. They were then released and sent to Tabriz

as a direct result of the defeat of £he central powers with whom
Turkey was allied. When Khiyabani and his colleagues were once more
among their fellow-citizens he declared:

“T would not wish to be born again, but if I were

I would prefer to be born among the hungry and
rejected people so that I can share their rejection
and humiliation. I would not wish to deny my fe1-1
Tow countrymen even if I were to be cut in pieces.”

In conclusion we must observe that during the period between
1908-1919, two major foreign intervention took place in Iran.
This period began with Tsarist Russia's attack against the
Constitutional Revolution and ended with the Anglo-Persian Agreement
of 1919. Tsarist Russia, opposing the Constitutional Revolution
and taking its opportunity from the weak state of the Iranian

government, attacked the Majlis, killing many democrats in Tehran,

1. See R. Ra’is Niya, D.M., p.234.
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while in Tabriz §amad Ehﬁn-i §Dpj5c al-Dawla who was closely backed
by Tsarist Russia killed or hanged many constitutionalists.

Tsarist Russians in fact had a direct role in the killing of eminent
members of the Constitutional Revolution like Sigat al-Islam.
Khiyabani strongly opposed: the Russian ultimatum of 1911 and left
Tehran after the closure of the Majlis. Finding himself unsafe

both in Tehran and Tabriz he had to go to Petrovsk where he stayed a
couple of months before returning to Tabriz. ‘Due to the presence

of §amad Ehﬁn-i §huj§c al-Dawla as governor of Azerbaijan, a bitter
enemy of the Constitutional Revolution, Khiyabani could not take part
openly in political actijvities, and for the time opened a shop in the
Bazar where he could communicate with freedom fighters. The start
of World War I and the invasion of Azerbaijan by the Turks cﬁuséd
more anarchy and disorder in Azerbaijan. Khiyabani, who opposed
Pan-Turkism in Azerbaijan, was arrested by the Turks and sent into
exile in Turkey. The ending of the First World War and the return
of Khayabani from exile, together with the evacuation of Iran by

the Russians following the October revolution, paved the ground for

further political activities and formation of the Anjuman-i Ayalati

va valayati in Azerbaijan by Khiyabani. This can be regarded as the
starting point of 5ﬂiy5b5n§'s uprising. In these circumstances
Britain decided to fill the vacuum in Iran by making the Anglo-
Persian Agreement of 1919 by which Britain proposed to support the
Persian Central Government against internal democratic movements 1ike
the uprising of Khiyabani in Azerbaijan. The nature and aims of this

agreement will be discussed in the following chapter.
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Chapter 3

THE ANGLO-PERSIAN 1919 AGREEMENT
The outbreak of World War I and the weakness of the Iranian
government destroyed for the time being any prospects of
democracy or progress in Iran although by the end of the war
circumstances had changed so radically that the atmosphere was
once more suitable for the revival of political and democratic
activity. Although Iran had declared its neutrality in 1974
this was ignored by the combatants. Britain and Russia continued
" to maintain large numbers of troops on Iranian territory, and in
1915 signed a new treaty whereby the whole of Iran was occupied,
by Russia in the North and Britain in the South. In 1916 identical
notes were presented by the two powers to the then Prime Minister,
Sipahdar, demanding that Persian finance and customs and the Persian
army should be under joint Anglo-Russian supervision. The first
Majlis was dissolved on June 23, 1908 because of Liyakhov's
bombardment of the Parliament; the second Majlis which was convened
on November 15, 1909 was shut down on December 1, 1909 due to the
Russian ultimatum; the third Majlis election took place in June 1914
but did not meet because of the Russian occupation of Iran.

In effect Britain and Russia were the real masters of Iran during
these years. The fact that the nominal Iranian government had no

real powers inevitably led to the spread of anarchy throughout the
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country, with a breakdown of law and order, the interruption of
normal commercial life and widespread hunger, 1917 in particular
being a year of famine. The first revolt against this situation
took place in 1916, when an anti-British movement was led in
Bushihr by Shaykh Husayn Khan-i Chah Kutahi which was assisted

by Wassmuss, a German agent. This revolt which was directed
against the British-raised occupation force, the South Persia
Rifles (S.P.R.), was not suppressed until 1921.]

The collapse of the Tsarist regime in 1917 changed the situation
in Iran drastically. The bulk of Russian troops simply made their
way back to Russia, although a number of units remained loyal to
the Tsar and remained in Iran, where they later entered the service
of the Shah. The disappearance of the Russian armies on her
Eastern front led to a brief Turkish occupation of Azerbaijén, in
which a number of German agents were involved.

This sudden disappearance of Russia from the North of Iran
inevitably led to a state of anarchy in the region. British troops
were insufficient to occupy the whole area, and after a brief
attempt to occupy Baku in order to prevent the Bolsheviks from
establishing themselves there they only played a minor role in the
North of Iran, since British public opinion was now strongly
opposed to further military ventures. For the meantime the Iranian
army was too weak to occupy these areas effectively itself. A

striking example of the weakness of the Iranian government at this

1. For more details see H. Makki, op.cit., Vol.1, pp.22-24, and
M.Q. Hidayat, Kh.Kh., pp.273-280.
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period is the ease with which Isma 31 Simitqd, with his Kurdish
followers was able to create serious disturbances in Urumiyya,
Salmas, Khuy and Lakistan, plundering and killing, and on-one
occasion, setting fire to Uramiyya, as a result of which six
thousand one hundred people are said to have died.1 The central
government did not merely fail to take any measures against him,
but actually appointed him to maintain order in Western Azerbaijan.
The disappearance of the Russians did not lead to any lessening of
the autocratic style of government of Ahmad Shah.  In 1918,
recognising the realities of the new international situation, he
appointed as Prime Minister the pro-British politician Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla.’
Britain was now the most influential power in Iran and was determined
to maintain this position. In order to do so it was necessary for
her to co-operate with anti-democratic forces such as Ahmad Shah and
Vusug al-Dawla, since it was clear that the nationalist and democratic
forces within Iran would never agree to the domination of Iran by any
outside power, Britain or any other. If we consider the position of
Britain in the Persian Gulf and the Indian subcontinent, British
support of the Iranian government seems very logical. This in turn
explains why Democratic Movements such as thafﬁﬁhiyébén? fell victim

to this co-operation.

1. Tajaddud, 25,12,1296 (18.3.1918).

| L = 7 Tl sluIr ¥ “nTo s T.T
2. For more details see, F. Nuri-ilsionigirt, Rastakhiz-i Iran,

(Tehran 1957), pp.50,61,111 and “A. Agar§, Q.Kh., pp.112-118.
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British interests may be discussed under three headings,
political commercial and financial. Britain's political interests,
apart from the maintenance of her previous dominant position in Iran
in general, were the protection of Mesopotamia and the defence of
India. In addition there were British commercial interests in Iran,
such as the Anglo-Persian 0il Company, the Imperial Bank of Persia,
and finally the British Financial interests in Iran which at that
period consisted of the Iranian debt to the British Government of
several million pounds. To keep these interests in Iran, Great
Britain had need of a secure guarantee by which not only the British
interests in Iran were safeguarded but also her interests in
Mesopotamia, India, the Persian Gulf on the one hand and prevention
of Russian expansion to these areas on the other. This briefly
accounts for British interference in Iranian internal affairs and
her permanent support of the Iranian §D§h, Prime Minister, Cabinet
and other politicians.

Lord Curzon, the British Foreign Minister and Vusuq al-Dawla
both played an important part in the activities of this time. In
1918, Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla was the Iranian Prime Minister, and was making
preparations to sign a convention with Great Britain. To this end
the British Plenipotentiary in Tehran was instructed to reach a
mutual agreement with Vusuq al-Dawla in order to maintain British
influence in Iran. Lord Curzon affirmed British responsibility for
supporting Mesopotamia, because Great Britain did not wish to

jeopardize her Middle East interests in the future and also did not
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want to cause financial and political discord between India and
Mesopotamia.]

Faced by revolution in Russia and political upheavals in
Iran, Britain decided to prop up the government of Abmad §h§h and
indeed exerted a great deal of pressure upon it. Lord Curzon
wrote in 1919:

"Yery urgent: The Persian Minister for foreign affairs
thinks that the Shah should be urged to take energetic
action without delay, to prove possibility that he
supports Prime Minister, that for this purpose he
should issue a proclamation urging that order and

security be maintained and warning the people against

dangerous propaganda... ."2

In order to keep in power the government of Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla, which
was regarded by Britain as being in her interests but was not
democratically elected by the majority of Iranians, the British
government was prepared to use what can only be described as bribery.
As long as Abmad §h§h kept Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla in power and supported him
and his cabinet, he received monthly payments from Britain:

"...Apersonal payment of Ts.15,000 a month to the
Shah, to be continued so long as he keeps Vu§ﬁq
al-Dawla's cabinet in power... ."3

Ahmad §h§h's greed for money is commented on very explicitly

in the following telegram:

1. See Public Record Office [114911/150/34] Memorandum by Lord Curzon
on the Persian Agreement, 8.9.1919.

2. See F.0. No.311 [201530/150/34] Tehran, June 7, 1920.

3. Public Record Office No.371/4927, London, August 15, 1919.
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"...He is now thoroughly well disposed towards
us and determined to work with us in his own
rather odd way. Best method of keeping him
in this frame of mind is to give him as much
money as we can for that is what he loves most

in the world... ."]

Lord Curzon's report to the British Cabinet contains a clear
statement of British Policy and her interests in Iran:

"...A year ago, when our fortunes in the Western
theatre of operations were drawing towards a
successful issue, and when Persia herself ceased
to contemplate a German victory, a leading
Persian statesman named Vusug al-Dawla who had
always been friendly to British interests, was
appointed by the Shah as the head of the Ministry.
With him in the Persian Cabinet were two other
Ministers equally convinced that the future of
Persia lay in friendly reliance upon ourselves.

The Shah himself adopted the same line and backed
his Ministers. Simultaneously we had sent to
Tehran as our Minister Sir Percy Cox, for many
years British resident in the Persian Gulf, and
latterly chief political officer in Mesopotamia.

His object and his instructions were to come to

some arrangement with the Persian Government by
which British interests in that part of the world
should be safeguarded in the future from a recurrence
of the recent shocks, and by which Persia, incurably
feeble and unable to stand by herself, should be
given the support that would enable her to maintain
her position among the independent nations of the

1. F.0. No.417 [206097/150/34] Tehran, June 25, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.538-39.
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world.  The negotiations which have proceeded
during the last nine months, and which have now
reached a satisfactory conclusion, are the
result of the joint efforts of the Persian
Government and Sir Percy Cox. What they mean
in practice is this: not that we have received
or are about to receive a mandate for Persia -
on the contrary, the attempts of the Persian
representatives in Paris to be heard by the
peace conference have been attempted by uniform
failure; not that Persia has handed over to us
any part of her liberties; not that we are
assuming fresh and costly obligations which will
place a great strain upon us in the future; but
that the Persian Government, realizing that we
are the only neighbouring Great Power closely
interested in the fate of Persia, able and
willing to help her and likely disinterested in
that object, have decided of their own free will
to ask us to assist Persia in the rehabilitation

of her fortunes... .”]

THE 19719 AGREEMENT

We shall attempt to show in this chapter how EgjyébénT reacted
against the 1919 Agreement, and what were the reasons for his
vigorous attack upon this agreement, and we shall also attempt
to study the reaction of foreign powers to this agreement,

particularly as expressed in the press, and the reactions of the

. F.0. [114911/150/34]
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Iranians themselves. We must therefore study the contents of
this agreement closely and also examine the letters and documents
which are to be found in the British Foreign Office. This will
show that the reaction of Khiyabani against this agreement was
wellfounded and rational.

In order to understand Khiyabani's political thinking and his
objection to Vusug al-Dawla and his conduct of Iranian affairs we
need to examine the policies of the government inside Iran and her
foreign policy as regards agreements with foreign powers, and also
study the reaction to these policies and agreements. The enmity of
the Iranian ruling circles to Khiyabani is understandable only in
this context.

Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla, having established a secure position in Tehran,
decided to organize a strong administrative system and a powerful
government in Iran. This seemed impossible with an empty treasury,
and so he approached Great Britain which was the strongest neighbour
of Iran at that period.

During the Summer of 1918 the situation was tense, but the end
of World War I and the collapse of the monarchy in Russia removed all
possibilities of outside intervention from that quarter for the
moment and left Great Britain without a rival in Iran. It was in
these circumstances that the 1919 agreement was formu]ated.] The

story of this agreement has been told in several works, but the

1. For the full text of the agreement see Appendix No.'..
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results which would have been achieved by the two countries, Great
Britain and Iran, have not been analysed in any detail. A study

of the articles of the agreement reveals the extent of Iran's
dependence upon Great Britain. By the conclusion of this agreement
four objects were contemplated by the Foreign office: the
reorganization and control of the Iranian army by British officers

and experts; the loan of the services of such advisors as might be
necessary to effect a similar control of the police and civil
administrations; the revision of the existing customs tariff;

and the development of communications, railways and roads in
particular.  Although this agreement was not approved by the Majlis
and was therefore not valid in terms of article 24 of the Iranian
constitution, the British began actively planning to implement it.

A team of staff officers headed by General W.E.R. Dickson planned

the reorganization of the army; the customs tariff was revised by

a joint commission; a senior treasury official, Mr Sydney A. Armitage
Smith was appointed to reform the Iranian financial system and the
first instalment of the proposed loan was paid over. However the
government of Iran was not able to spend it directly and independently;
rather she was obliged to spend it under the direct supervision of the
British advisor:

"...That instalment of the loan cannot properly be

made till the British Financial Advisor has taken

up his duties in Tehran... ."]

1. Public Record Office 371/4927, August 14, 1919.

62



The §Dﬁh of Iran was invited to London, where the British
Government was confident of the ratification of the agreement. In
London he received a magnificent welcome from the British
Government and King George V, who gave a speech at a reception in
which he declared:

"...We welcome your Majesty's present visit here as

a renewed proof of the close ties of friendship which
have united our two countries for more than a century.
We welcome it more especially at the present moment,
when the relations between Persia and Great Britain
have become even closer than they have ever been,

and we are about to embark upon a collaboration in
the field of material and administrative progress
which will ensure to your country a future not

unworthy of its famous past... .”]

Although Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla had signed the agreement personally he
still needed to have it passed by the Majlis before it could become
valid. The weakness of his position was recognized by the British
Government, who while determined to give him every assistance were
realistic enough to offer him asylum should this be necessary:

“Your Highness. It gives me much pleasure to inform
Your Highness that His Majesty's Government authorise me
to intimate that, in view of the agreement concluded
this day... They are prepared to extend to Your
Highness their good offices and support in case of need,
and further to afford Your Highness asylum in the

British Empire should necessity arise...

1. The Times, November 1, 1919.
2. Copy of a letter, dated the 9th August, 1919, from His Majesty's
Minister to their Highness Vossough-ed-Dowleh, Vol.XIII, pp.1141-42.
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However Vusug al-Dawla pressed on and ordered an election,
though taking the precaution of engaging in corrupt practices,
thus becoming the originator in Iran of an unfortunate tradition
of fraud, partiality and violence in the pursuit of political
aims.  Mustawfi says, writing of these elections and Vusug al-Dawla's
actions that the chief of the Damavand Gendarmerie region said:

“...1 have done my job well and I have obeyed
whatever the government has ordered. With this
whip I hit the people so that they would vote for

a representative who was recommended by the

government... ."]

He also states that fifteen thousand ballot papers were sent
to Shiraz and Kirmanshahan for the elections, although the number
of Shiraz voters was twenty five thousand and that for Kirmanshahan
was twenty two thousand. In Kirmanshahan every Lur with a rifle
in one hand and a dozen votes in the other one came to the Anjuman
and entered his votes, without any rejection by the election
supervisory councﬂ.2 A telegram sent by the people of Sirjan to
Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla illustrates how openly Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla allowed elections
to the Majlis to be manipulated:

"Dear Prime Minister, According to an order issued by
the Governor General of Sirjan, the people who do not
take part in this election will be charged Ts.10.
Because of our fear of the governor and of the
penalty we were obliged to take our ballot papers

1. ®A. Mustawfi, op.cit., p.92.
2. Ibid., p.96.
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and hand them over to the governor. He kept
them all and on the day of election we were all
called and had to cast the ballot papers which
had already been written out and prepared by
the governor in the presence of the election
supervisory council. Now a person has been.
elected who is an absolute stranger in our city
and whom we do not know. The consequences of
this, good or bad, are the responsibiity of the

Prime Minister...
In order to ensure approval for this agreement, Vugﬁq al-Dawla
" realized that he would have to impose martial law in Tehran, as
otherwise the opponents of this agreement would be too dangerous
for his cabinet. Spying on the people was thoroughly organized and
a firm censorship of the papers was established. Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla
also used religion as a political means, and his attempts in this
field were reported by Mr Norman from Tehran to Earl Curzon as
follows:

“...Prime Minister also spoke this afternoon...

He told me in confidence that he was also about to
send secret mission to Holy places in Mesopotamia
with a view to inducing the religious authorities
there to issue a fetwa condemning Bolshevism as
contrary to Islam, a step which I myself had been

intending to advise...

1. Ibid., p.96. See also, H. Makki, op.cit., p.17.
2. F.0. No.465 [C830/56/34] Tehran, July 7, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.559-60.
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ngﬁq al-Dawla received monetary payment from the British
to aid his efforts to get the agreement passed by the Majlis,
although this proved somewhat counter-productive:

"Imperial Bank of Persia have supplied me with
following particulars of transaction:-

Amount paid was 400,000 tomans, and equivalent
in sterling £131,147, and not £250,000 as I

had been told. On 11th August, 1919, 10,000,
and on 13th August 90,000 tomans were handed to
Sarem-ed-Dowleh in cash by the then chief
manager of the bank. On 19th September, 1919
balance of 200,000 tomans was credited to

Vossugh-ed-Dowleh and a credit note sent to him... ."]

Indeed British attempts to dominate Iran by bribing a dishonest
and corrupt King and Prime Minister aroused opposition throughout
Iranian society. Norman in another telegram states:

"...We are in the meantime also alienating
sympathies of other sections notably rich
reactionary landowners by our failure to
carry on what they regard our moral obligations
towards Persia in the matter of her defence...

We are now identified with most autocratic elements

in country... ."2

Britain had in fact established her own government within
Iranian territory. In other words she had her own troops and her
own administrative organization in Iran where she was able to do

whatever she wished. In these matters the Iranian Government had

1. F.0. Norman to Earl Curzon, No.754, [C11774/82/34] Tehran 19.11.1920.
Vol.XIII, p.639.
2. F.0. No.393 [204748/150/34] Tehran, June 18, 1920. Vol.XIII,
pp.526-27.
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no power to do as they wished, but were obliged to consult the
British Government before taking any step. We see this in
Lord Derby's telegram to Lord Curzon:

"Very urgent, Persian Minister of Foreign Affairs has
been to see me... What advice does British
Government give as to their proper conduct?

Shall they enter into negotiations with Soviet

Government?...

THE 1919 AGREEMENT AS SEEN BY THE FOREIGN PRESS

The Anglo Persian Agreement was openly criticised by European and
American Press and Politicians. Thus the New York Daily News
stated:

“...Persia had died; the death certificate was
the Anglo-Persian Treaty; this treaty was
completed for the exclusive interest of

Great Britain... ."2

The Washington Post of October 5, 1919 declared of the agreement

and the British role in it;

"...none of those who have paid attention even superficially
to the Treaty signed on the 3rd [9th] August between

Great Britain and Persia can fail to see that Great

Britain has struck a blow, voluntarily or involuntarily,

at the League of Nations whose creation is now proposed.

1. F.0. No.602 [199077/150/34] Paris, May 20, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.491-2.
2. Daily News, 29.8.1919.
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Before the ink was dry on Great Britain's
ratification of the Treaty of Peace even while
the British Parliament was discussing the
covenant of the League of Nations, negotiations
at Tehran had reached a point where the
independence of Persia was surrendered and where
the control of the Persian nation was transferred
to British hands... .“]

Like the American Press the Government of the United States
were opposed to the Anglo-Persian Agreement. Congress passed a
resolution calling on the State Department to communicate the text
of any correspondence between His Majesty's Government and United
States Government with regard to the Anglo-Persian Agreement.2

Both American politicians and the American Press supported the
Iranian nation and its rights and blamed the British policy and the
Iranian Government. The Americans indeed wanted to follow the

declaration of Woodrow Wilson who had said on February 11, 1918:

"...People and Provinces should no longer be

bartered for among Governments like cattle

or like the pawns on a chess-board... ."3

In the hope of heading off American opposition to the Anglo-
Persian Agreement, Britain offered America the opportunity to
participate in it by sending advisors to take part in financial and
administrative reforms. Viscount Grey gives his views on this

subject in a telegram sent to Lord Curzon, from Washington:

1. Washington Post, 5.10.1919.
2. F.0. No.26 [170326/150/34] Washington, January 13, 1920, Vol.XIII, p.433.
3. F.0. No.960 [1176/150/34] Paris, August 17, 1919, Vol.IV, p.1135.
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"...Embassy here tell me that subject has not attracted
much attention in press, but feeling in State
Department is very strong; they think move has been
kept in the dark intentionally, and represent
agreement as a policy of virtual annexation of Persia
but friendly senator has spoken of it with
regret in this sense.

I shall tell United States Government history
of Agreement and draw attention to your Lordship's
speech on Persia. But I propose to explain our
policy is not one of annexation but encouraging a
strong independent Persia as a buffer state on Indian
frontier.

In fact I should propose saying we should be glad
if United States Government would become partners in
this loan and in accompanying conditions of agreement.
American Policy will never be aggressive against India
and no doubt Americans in Persia would secure at any
rate moral influence of United States Government against

. . . 1
any revival of aggression from Russia or elsewhere... ."

However, the United States showed no interest in this offer and

continued to be opposed to the agreement until its final collapse.

SOVIET REACTION TO THE ANGLO-PERSIAN AGREEMENT
The Russians also opposed the 1919 Anglo-Persian Agreement, and
declared that the Soviet Government refused to recognize its

validity. They regarded this agreement as a serious threat to

1. F.0. No.1392 [134895/150/34] Washington, September 28, 1919,
Vol.IV, p.1185.
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the independence and sovereignty of the Iranian people and at the
same time declared all unjust agreements between Russia and Persia
from 1907 to 1915 null and void. A translation of an extract
from a Caucasian newspaper, sent by Sir Percy Cox from Tehran to
Lord Curzon illustrates the Russian point of view:

"One of the first and firmest opinions of the

Russian Republican Soviet of Labour and Peasantry

has been to declare that all nations, weak and

strong, independent, or forced to be under other
powers, must be free and must not be under

foreign influence, and no government should bring

them under its own authority by force... The

Russian Nation will return to Persia whatever has

been taken from her by the Imperial Russian

generals. The Persian Government has, on the other
side, declared all such treaties null and void.

Under these circumstances we expected Persia to

have a new political life and to put an end to the
oppression of savage foreigners. Now that the
victorious, but cruel, English are sﬁéng]ing Persia
and want to bring her under their yoke the Russian
Republican Soviet of Labour and Peasantry most
emphatically declares that it will not recognize the
Anglo-Persian Agreement, which will lead to the slavery
of Persians. Russian labour considers the Persian
labourers as their sincere friends and brothers and
that they must share its liberty. The Russian
Republican Soviet of Labour and Peasantry regards

that weak agreement as a scrap of paper having no legal
validity. The agreement shows that the Persian
statesmen have sold themselves and the independence of
their nation to the oppressive English. We have
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cancelled all the guarantees which the Persian
Government, under pressure, had undertaken

towards the Russian Imperialism. Henceforth

the Russian Government will not interfere in

Persian affairs. The Caspian Sea has been cleared
of the formidable ships of English Imperialism and
commercial ships, under Persian flags, will sail on
that sea with full Tiberty. A1l Government
privileges will be abolished. The extra-territorial
rights will be abolished, the Banque d'Escompte in
Persia, railways, roads, buildings, harbour
administrations, telegraphs, and telephones will be
handed over to Persia. All Russian administration
and arrangements which may interfere with the domestic

affairs of Persia will be abolished and cance]]ed."]

The new Soviet Government was soon to become involved in

Iranian affairs itself, but for the present it is sufficient to

note Russian disapproval of the 1919 Agreement.

THE REACTION OF THE FRENCH PRESS

The publication of the Anglo-Persian Agreement evoked a storm of

protest in France. In the French press, British policy in Iran was

examined closely and when the terms of the agreement were released

the general response was that the British Empire had, in fact

received another territorial extension.  Thus Paris-Soir proclaimed:

. Part of a translation of an extract from an unspecified Caucasian

newspaper, sent by Sir P. Cox to Lord Curzon, F.0. No.169
[154949/150/34] October 21, 1919, Vol.IV, pp.1207-09.
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“...A territory nearly three times the area of
France, very rich in undeveloped natural
resources and possessing oil deposits of very
great value to the British navy, passes, to
all intents and purposes, under British

Il.I

control... .

On the other hand, Le Temgs2 maintained that it appeared that
the new Anglo-Persian treaty explicitly preserved the integrity and
independence of Persia. These expressions of course had been
previously used in the 1907 Anglo-Persian agreement3 and to this
extent British policy in Iran had not changed.

Liberté wrote:

"...it is to guard India that Great Britain went to
Egypt and stayed there, that she protects
Afghanistan, instals herself in Mesopotamia, intends
to keep Palestine, and disputes with us Syria, which,
nevertheless, was assured to us by the treaty of 1916...
such is the treaty of independence which our allies have
" imposed on Persia. It is not said that to do this
they ask for the least mandates from the League of
Nations, nor even that they intend to submit the
agreement to the executive council of the League,

as the statutes enjoin... ."4

1. Paris-Soir, August 24, 1919.

. Le Temps, August 17, 1919.

3. The Anglo-Russian Agreement of August 31, 1907 began with the words:
“The Government of Great Britain and Russia having mutually

(RS

engaged to respect the integrity and independence of Persia..."
4. Liberté, August 15, 1919.
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. Jean Herbette, the Foreign Editor of Le Temps, describes on
August 17, 1919 'the wonderful geographical position of Persia' and
says

"Persia lies at the cross-roads of three influences,
English, Russian and German, which have opposed one
another in the East... it is impossible to calculate
the advantages which Persia in twenty or thirty years
may bring to a power which employs modern methods of
exploitation there."

The writer says that the new Anglo-Persian Agreement explicitly
maintains the integrity and independence of Persia, but that the

same expression was used in the preamble to the Anglo-Russian
Agreement of August 31, 1907,.the object of which was to divide
Persian territory into a British and a Russian zone. "The same
words integrity and independence now reappear, and it is difficult to
give them in 1919 a different meaning to that attached to them in
1907, namely a purely oratorical precaution."

On 14th August 1919 Le Temps and Débats published articles in

which British policy and the Anglo-Persian Agreement were criticized.

Débats especially made a bitter attack, describing the agreement as,

“placing Persia on the footing of Egypt". The writer added that

“the agreement was not well received in Persia by public opinion".
Eventually, however, the French government not only did not

follow up her nation's rejection of the Anglo-Persian Agreement,

but even co-operated with the British. She did not make any

unfavourable comments on the Anglo-Persian Agreement and even

apologised for not publishing the full details in France. Lord Curzon

explains this in the following telegram,
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"The French Ambassador called at this Department
on October 27th and read to Lord Hardinge of
Penshurst a despatch which he had just received
from his Government, offering excuses for the non-
publication in France of the complete text of the
speech which I made on September 18th on the
occasion of the dinner given to his Highness
Nosret-ed-Dowleh. Monsieur Paul Cambon also
read at this interview telegrams which had been
despatched to Monsieur Bonin, instructing him
to co-operate with you closely and directing that
no unfavourable comments on the Anglo-Persian

Agreement should be a]]owed.”]

This meeting took place after the French Ambassador to Tehran
had shown ‘unfriendliness' in his attitude to the Anglo-Persian
Agreement.  Subsequently he had to modify his attitude and act in
accordance with his government's instructions. The following
telegram illustrates this;

"...A strong representation has been made to the French
Embassy regarding your French colleague's unfriendliness...
The French Government have been asked to instruct him to
alter his attitude. The French Chargé d'Affaires assured
me that the attitude complained of was not in accordance
with the instructions or wishes of the French Government
which were to an altogether contrary effect, and
undertook to report the matter at once to French
Government. I gather that the French Government are

. . ey 2
not unaware of M. Bonin's activities."

1. Lord Curzon to Sir P. Cox (Tehran), No.236 [147145/150/34]
Foreign Office, November 1, 1919, Vol.IV, p.1218.

2. Lord Curzon to Sir P. Cox (Tehran), No.443 [116167/150/34]
Foreign Office, August 19, 1919, Vol.IV, p.1136.
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THE REACTION OF THE BRITISH PRESS
Predictably, the attitude of the British press was very different

from that of the other countries considered. Thus the Daily Herald

described Iran as 'an orphaned Persia', and on August 20, 1919
stated:

“...the disappearance of Imperia1~Russia has enabled

us to act for the first time without the fear of

local opposition in Persia. In 1907 we divided it
into sphere of influence with Russia. Russia is gone,
and to an orphaned Persia we must now endeavour to be
father and mother both.... we alone may appoint the
advisors who will assist Persian Ministers to
reorganize their country while we also will appoint

the officers who will command the troops, who will

see that our advice is respected... ."]

In a similar but more restrained vein The Times wrote;

"The Anglo-Persian Agreement which was signed on the
9th inst., provides for the restoration of Persia
through British brains and money. British experts
are to be supplied for the Civil administration and
British officers and equipment for the new force that

is to be raised for the maintenance of order... ."2

The Times was naturally aware of French opposition to this
treaty, and a few days later wrote;

"...naturally quite a number of the French arguments
in both the Syrian and the Persian discussions are
debatable. There is on more than one point a conflict
of evidence and information, but the whole development

1. Daily Herald, August 20, 1919.
2. The Times, August 16, 1919.
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of the Near Eastern situation seems to show that
the time has come when events themselves will
force even the Peace Conference to bestir
itself... ."]

Clearly at this period The Times was hoping that it would be
possible to overcome French opposition to British policies in the

Middle East by presenting France with a fait accompli, both in

Syria and Iran. This is commented on also from a somewhat

different point of view by Foreign Affairs;

"The anger of the French imperialists leaves us
cold. They are angry because our imperialism
snatches at the Persian peach, while objecting
to French imperialism devouring the Syrian fig.
What matters is not the irritation of French
imperialism, which cares nothing for Persia qua
Persia, but the steady moral declension,
of which Persia is the latest example, of

British policy."?

In general, however, the attitude of the British press at this
period was one of unqualified enthusiasm. This contrasts sharply
with the disillusion of the press a year later, as we shall see

below.

THE REACTION OF THE IRANIANS TO THE 1919 AGREEMENT
The Agreement was most unpopular in Iran and was rejected by the

mass of Iranians. [t was believed that with this agreement

1. The Times, August 19, 1919.
2. Foreign Affairs, London, November, 1919.
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Vusug al-Dawla had sold Iran to the British Government. This is
explained by Mr Norman in a telegram which was sent on August 6,
1920 from Tehran to Lord Curzon in London;

"It does not appear to be realized at home how
intensely unpopular agreement was in Persia

and how hostile public opinion had become to
Vosuqg's Cabinet before it fell. It was

believed in Persia that notwithstanding pledges
given agreement really aimed at destruction of her
independence and that Vosuq and those acting with
him had sold their country to British for fact
that money had been received by them for

signing agreement could not be kept secret."]

The 1919 Agreement had its supporters however as well as its
opponents in Iran. The people who were pro-Agreement, were from
the rich landowners and politicians in the capital and Tabriz,
people such as CAyn-a]-Daw]a, Mu§ﬁ7r al-Dawla and his brother in
Tehran,zand the merchants of Tabm’z.3 The opponents of this
agreement were from the rest of the Iranians; some of these are
listed by Sir P. Cox in a report sent on August 22, 1919;

“1. Extreme demands headed by well-known individuals,
Mudarris and Imam Juma Khoi. 2. Political enemies
of Prime Minister, and certain politicians out of
work who have little to expect from us. 3. Officers,
Russian and Persian, of Cossack division. 4. French,
American and Russian Legations, as far as they can

oppose it with safety."4

. F.0. No.562 [C3302/82/34] Tehran, August 6, 1920, Vol.XIII, p.585.

F.0. No.595 [123784/150/34] Tehran, September 1, 1919, Vol.IV, p.1150.
F.0. No.570 [120553/150/34] Tehran, August 22, 1919, Vol.IV, pp.1139-40.
. F.0. No.569 [120074/150/34] Tehran, August 22, 1919, Vol.IV, pp.1138-39.
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Internal opponents were threatened with banishment if there
was any further activity against the agreement. Meanwhile some
individuals were warned and some politicians were deported, for

example Mumtaz al-Dawla, Mu“in al-Tujjar, Mustashar al-Dawla,

Mumtaz al-Mulk and Muhtasham al-Saltana.'

Despite the unpopularity of this agreement, so readily
recognized by his successor Norman, Cox continued to believe that
the agreement was widely acceptable in Iran, as shown by a telegram
sent in August 1919 to Lord Curzon in which he summarises the

reports of British Consuls in various provincial towns:

"...Tabriz. Merchants and respectable...s2

very glad.
...Kazvin. Better class of landowners and merchants
favourable... -

Rasht. This unfavourable comment [sic] but details of
agreement not generally known to public.

Hamadan.  Agreement popular where majority are
concerned and accepted by all.

North Arabistan. Agreement most favourably received.
Khorassan. Large public meeting held on 18th August.
Terms of Agreement which we had published were read
and unanimously appreciated.

Shiraz. Reception generally favourable - full
details not yet published.

Kerman. Public feeling in favour of agreement, which
is on the whole approved by all classes particularly

businessmen...

1. F.0. No.618 [127632/150/34] Tehran, September 10, 1919, Vol.IV,
pp.1160-61.

2. The text here is uncertain.

3. F.0. No.570 [120553/150/34] Tehran, August 22, 1919, Vol.IV,

pp.1139-40.
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Despite Cox's optimism however, a demonstration against the
agreement and Vu§ﬁ q al-Dawla was held in Tehran on 31 September
by the Tehran students, on which occasion they were quickly seized
by the police. This student demonstration was described by

Sir P. Cox as follows;

"...it attacked Vussugh and agreement; called on
clergy to drape the mosques in black, and on all
patriotic Persians to rise and demand its
cancellation. Meanwhile the members of gang
continued to meet at each other's houses and

hatch plans... ."]

Opposing this agreement Khiyabani wrote:

“...As long as this agreement has not been
ratified by the Majlis, we regard it as

nothing more than a piece of paper and do

not regard that agreement as effective... ."2

A further cause of discontent was furnished by Ahmad Shah's visit
to Europe, which further drained the depleted Iranian treasury.3
On the day of his return (3.6.1920) the students of Tehran held a
demonstration of which they shouted 'long Tive the Shah, death to

the English and the agreement'.4

1. F.0. No.618 [127632/150/34]) Tehran, September 10, 1919, Vol.IV,
pp.1160-61.

2. Tajaddud, 16/5/1298 (12.8.1919).

3. About 10,000,000 Francs, see F.0. No.189 [191064/150/34] Tehran,
April 9, 1920, Vol.XIII, pp.463-64 and No.388 [189321/150/34]
Paris, March 30, 1920, Vol.XIII, pp.459-60.

4. F.0. No.332 [201783/150/34] Tehran, June 3, 1920, Vol.XIII, p.502.
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This unnecessary and financially ruinous journey to Europe
attracted unfavourable comment from Khiyabani;

"..nobody asks where the King goes to, nobody
asks why he does so. Nobody asks why this
kind of expenditure must be taken from the
impoverished Iranian treasury. While the
people are suffering from hunger, Ts.40,000

are being spent for the celebration of the King's

return from Europe... .“1

The position in the cities in general and the capital in
particular was very difficult. The press were warned not to write
any article about the agreement, about troop movements or about
Bolshevism and martial law was proclaimed in Tehran.2

Although Vugﬁq al-Dawla had openly interfered in the elections,
nevertheless in Azerbaijan six out of the nine who wefe elected to
the Fourth Majlis were from the Democrats.  These were 5hjy5b5n7
himself, Mirza Muhammad Taqi Tabataba'i, Fiyuzat, Sayyid al-
Muhaqqiq?n, Négim al-Dawla-yi Diba and Mu®tamad al-Tujjar.

According to H. Makki, Vusug al-Dawla realized that if Khiyabani
and the other democrat deputies from Azerbaijan attended the Majlis,
their determined opposition to the 1919 Agreement would make its
ratification impossible. For this reason he delayed summoning the

Maj]is.3 The growth of the movement in Tabriz was perhaps the main

reason for the downfall of the Cabinet of Vusuq al-Dawla on the

1. Tajaddud, 3/5/1299 (26.7.1920).

2. For more details see, F.0. No.509 (2158/82/34 Tehran, July 20,
1920, Vol.XIII, pp.568-69.

3. See H. Makki, op.cit., Vol.1, p.17 and also see R. Mihrabani,
Gishaha'laz Tarikh-i MuC3sir-i Iran (Tehran, 1982), p.11.
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25th June 1920, despite the fact that he was positively and directly
supported by Great Britain. Due to his personal unpopularity and
his political dishonesty, e.g. his attempts to rig the elections
to the 4th Majlis and to ensure the return of his own followers in
order to ratify the 1919 Agreement; his establishment of martial
law in Tehran during the latter part of his period in office and
his banishment of political opponents and suppression of newspapers,
he was ultimately forced to resign and to give way to Mu§ﬁ?r al-
Dawla.

When Vusuq al-Dawla realized that he was unable to carry out his
policies, he had no choice except to resign. Winston Churchill
states in a memorandum on the Persian situation;

“...Mr Norman succeeded Sir P. Cox at Tehran on
June 10th and found that it was useless to
continue to support Vusouk-ed-Dowleh, who had
become very unpopular and had determined to
withdraw from office. A. because the Shah did
not Tike him. B. because we did not support
him, and C. because he was i1l and tired of

office... JJ

Nevertheless after Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla's resignation, he received
a telegram which was sent by Lord Curzon on July 1, 1920. The text

runs as follows:

1. F.0. [C4966/82/34] Foreign Office, July 9, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.562-63.
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"Urgent.

Please convey to his Highness Vosouk-ed
Dawleh a personal message of thanks and
appreciation from me for the eminent
services he has rendered to his country
and to our joint interests from the date
he took office as Prime Minister in

August 1918 until his retirement after two
years of strenuous Tlabour. I hope that
his health will benefit by the rest he

so much deserves and I feel sure that he
will assist His Majesty's Legation whenever
required with his valuable advice and
guidance in matters concerning the

. . 1
interests of our two countries... ."

The Times writing on June 28, 1920, shows its anxiety about
the worsening situation in Iran, due to this agreement and the
failure of British imperial policy;

"...The impending resignation of the principal
Persian author of the Agreement, following
on the departure of Sir Percy Cox, raises
large issues. If he had been supported,
he could have put into effect the Anglo-

Persian Military Commission's report... .“2

The Times makes firm suggestions in regard to the change of

Persian Cabinet members in order to achieve the ratification of the

agreement.

1. F.0. No.353 206083/150/34 Foreign O0ffice, July 1, 1920,
Vol.XIII, p.554.
2. The Times, June 28, 1920.
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“...A cabinet more Nationalist in colour but
willing to continue the Anglo-Persian
Agreement, is being sought. If found, such
a cabinet would probably ordain fresh
elections, involving the further postponement
of the Majlis and an indefinite delay in
giving effect to the Anglo-Persian Military
Report... ."

While suggesting this The Times was aware of the unpopularity of the
agreement in Iran, but was hoping that the nationalists could be
persuaded to subport the agreement:

"...But undoubtedly the Agreement needs
popularizing and it will expire unless the
Nationalists extend to it the support to
which, on its merits, it is entitled. One
of the objections offered to it, namely, the
absence of a time T1imit, can doubtless easily
be met.“]

The opinion of the British Government of the new Prime Minister
of Iran, Mu§n§r a]-Daw]a? is made clear in a speech by Lord Curzon
which is summarised in a memorandum on the Persian Question made by
Mr Ovey;3

"...His Majesty's Government have little
confidence in the ability of this
statesman whose character is weak and

vacillating... .“4

. Ibid.

1
2. See Appendix 7.

3. He was a member of the Northern Department of the Foreign Office.
4. F.0. [206831/150/34] June 25, 1920, Vol.XIII, pp.541-42.
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In the same memorandum Lord Curzon notes;

"...whoever succeeds Vussagh-ed-Dowleh must

be a single-minded supporter of the Anglo-
Persian Agreement on which conditions alone
it is possible to continue to grant to Persia
the financial assistance which Persia

. 1
requires to 'carry on'."

Following this change, Britain made her demands on the new

Prime Minister as follows,

"(A) To continue the policy of Anglo-Persian
co-operation on the basis of the agreement.
(B) To summon the Persian Parliament ('Majliss')
. and submit the agreement to it for approval.
(C) To consider the agreement in abeyance till
this has taken place.
(D) To govern Persia on constitutional Tines
with a Parliament.
(E) To gain popularity in Persia by including
notorious Nationalists in his cabinet.
(F) To ask for British financial support."2
Despite this the 1919 Agreement was now in practiceadead
letter, for the Majlis had not met to ratify it. Because of it
Britain had become unpopular in Iran; Mr Norman in a telegraph sent

from Tehran to Lord Curzon describes the reaction of the people to

this agreement as follows;

1. Ibid.
2. F.0. [C4966/82/34] Foreign Office, July 9, 1920, Vol.XIII,
Pp.562-63.
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"...0n my arrival I found in power a government
almost universally detested and entirely
subservient to a Prime Minister to whom i11-
health had left only energy required to
increase his private fortune at the public
expense.  His policy had caused Azerbaijan
practially to separate itself from Persia and
had driven Mazandaran into rebellion. Gilan
was in possession of Kuchik Khan and his
followers who were allied with Bolsheviks.
Capital was seething with Bolshevik intrigue
and invitations to occupy it were being sent
to Resht from many influential quarters. Had
Bolsheviks responded in time their advance
might well have been assisted by a rising here,
and they would, failing an occupation of Tehran
by British troops, have received welcome from a
large section of population chiefly of lower
class.  Anglo-Persian agreement was nominally
in force but in practice remained a dead
letter and Government neither intended nor dared
to summon Madjlis to ratify it because they
feared its rejection by that assembly. Policy
of his Majesty's Government and their intentions
as expressed in agreement were widely distrusted,
not so much on account of terms of that
instrument itself, as of manner of its
conclusion and personality of its Persian

signatory whose unpopularity Great Britain shared... ."]

This unsettled political situation in Iran, especially in Tabriz,

(Sir P, Cox called it 'a dangerous situation in Tabriz‘fzwas of vital

1. F.0. No.654 [C7228/82/38] Tehran, September 25, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.610-11.
2. F.0. No.297 [199405/150/34] Tehran, May 22, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.493-4.
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concern to both the Iranian and British Governments. One must
realize that the defeat of the Tabriz uprising was the prime concern
of both of these governments. The British regarded 5ﬁ1y5b5n7 and
the Tabriz democrats as a serious threat to their 'own interests as
well as... those of Persian Government'.]

Sir P. Cox, in his telegram from Tehran to Lord Curzon,
expresses his anxiety with regard to the situation in Azerbaijan
and Khiyabani's movement;

“...as before stated principal danger spot is
Persian Azerbaijan where conditions are
already thoroughly bad. If this province
succumbs or secedes by deafult of Central
Government effect on general situation in
Persia will be disastrous enough. Cabinet
will certainly fall and policy including

"

agreement will be jeopardised...

In order to protect British interests, and to keep the Iranian
Government in power, it was urged that the movement in Tabriz must be
stopped by military force as soon as possible:

"...There is still some chance of saving situation
if following measures are taken at once, and to
save it is urgently in our own interests as well
as in those of Persian Government: but nothing
can be done without considerable expenditure.

1. Ibid.

2. F.0. No.271 [198025/150/34] Tehran, May 14, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.479-80.
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Prime Minister makes following propositions on
hypothesis that His Majesty's Government are
still not prepared under any circumstances to
send any reinforcements of British troops to
Tabriz.

1. That garrison of gendarmes now at

Ispahan should be withdrawn and replaced by
detachment of South Persia Rifles from Kerman
or failing that by a Bakhtiari garrison.

2. That gendarmes thus released plus Central
Brigade and such other units as can be spared
from Capital to total number of 3,000 be sent

urgently to Tabriz... .“]

In the event these gendarmes were not transferred and Khiyabani's
rising was suppressed by locally-based Coss%ks. Although we shall
describe the defeat of Khiyabani in the following chapter, it remains
rather difficult to explain why this and similar movements were
defeated if we only take into account political factors in Iran.
British Foreign Office documents however shed a great deal of light
on this problem. The archives show that political movements such as
that of Mirza Kuchik Khan, were suppressed with the direct interference
and assistance of Britain.

Sir Percy Cox in a telegram sent from Tehran to Earl Curzon on
November 21, 1919, makes the following comment:

“...In Gilan situation is thoroughly unsatisfactory.
Although a few months ago our troops in co-operation
with Persian Government stamped out Jangali
movement yet behaviour of Cossack detachments sent
to occupy various points has been so atrocious and
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incompetency of Persian (? administrative)
officials so complete that peasantry would
welcome the return of the Jangali regime,
and movement is gathering head (? word

omitted) again in close collusion with

Bolshevist and Turkish elements in Baku... ."1

The nature of the British involvement in Tabriz will be

discussed in the following chapter.

BOLSHEVIK PROPAGANDA IN IRAN

In the middle of 1920 the Red Army crossed the border into Iran in
pursuit of the White Russian forces under Denikin who had been forced
to take refuge in Iran. They occupied Gilan, and for a while
Russian influence in certain Iranian towns, particularly Tehran and
Rasht, was strong. If Tehran were to fall into the hands of the
Bolsheviks, it would mean not only that British interests and policy
in Iran would be harmed but that, at least in the overwrought
imagination of Norman, wholesale murder of Europeans and destruction
of European property at Tehran,2 would take place.

An announcement made by Su]?én Zada and Fathul]&yev, of the
Cégélgg Party (Persian Communist Party) shows the Bolshevik point of
view in Iran. They describe the Iranian Government as 'The criminal
governors of the Kajar dynasty', and proclaim that there is only one

way to destroy the power of the §b§h and liberate Iran from poverty

1. F.0., P. Cox to Lord Curzon, No.747 [154739/150/34] Tehran,
November 21, 1919, Vol.IV, pp.1241-42.
2. F.0. No.468 [695/56/34] Tehran, July 7, 1920, Vol.XIII, p.558.
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which is the Communist Revolution.  The Democratic Party which
was in power at the time is called 'a toy in the hands of the
universal brigand, England'. The text of this "Adalat Party
declaration runs in part as follows:

“In Persia, the Government of the Shah of Iran, has
by its grabbing policy, reduced the Persian people
to penury, and, for centuries, has squeezed dues
and taxes out of the pockets of the peasants, in
order to support the Shah's harem, and his
innumerable lackeys, and contemptible satraps and
officials, who purchase their posts by generous
bribery, and, with the connivance of the mullahs,
are leading the popular masses of Persia to
utter ruin.  The criminal governors of the Kajar
dynasty have done nought but indulge in
bacchanalia and robbery, and have never even tried
to take interest in popular education or to free
the country from hereditary oppression... The
Shah Ahmad Mirza himself, having received several
sacks of English gold, has left for a tour in
Europe: all ministers and officials receive their
salaries from the English treasury... The
democratic party, which is at present in power, is
simply a toy in the hands of the universal brigand,
England... In general the merchants have ruined
industries in Persia, by bringing in foreign
goods, thus hitting the small producers, transforming
them into proletariat and semi-proletariat. All
town centres are overcrowded with these unfortunate
victims of the colonial policy of the Imperialists.
How many of them have left their homes to find work
under a foreign sky?... Only the Communist
Revolution can liberate for all time the poor in
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town and village, from the sufferings of continual
hunger.  Only the Communist Revolution with its
firm hands is able to destroy the power of these
tyrants, and hand over the country to the rightful
people, and free it from taxation and dues, which
have reduced it to state of beggary... A Tittle
more force and the edifice of hereditary oppression
and slavery, will be demolished under the pressure
of the revolutionary people. Away with the foreign
brigands.  Down with the traitors of the working
classes. Long live free Persia. Long live the

Persian Communist Party Ada]at."]

The reason for British troops remaining in Iran was explained by
Lord Curzon, Foreign Secretary of Great Britain, who maintained that
British policy in the Middle East must always be affected by the
consideration of Mesopotamia. In justifying the presence of
British troops in Iran he wrote as follows,

"...the troops in North-West Persia were there
because their disappearance would simply open
the door to invasion, partly by the Turks and
partly by the Bolshevists, which would bring,
in all probability, the Persian Government to
the ground, and would destroy almost in a breath
the whole policy which we have been building up
in agreement with Persia in the last few years,
and which might recoil with very serious menace
on Mesopotamia itself. That was why we were

there... ."2

1. Announcement signed by Sultan Zada CA]iﬁhénov and Fath an .ayev,
members of the Organising Committee. See Foreign Of%ice,
Public Record Office 371/4927.

2. R. Machray, "Mesopotamia and Persia" Fortnightly Review, 108,
1920, pp.618-19.
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A memorandum1 on the Persian Question which was submitted
by Mr Oliphant of the Central European and Persia Department of
the Foreign Office in 1920, also illustrates this belief;

“...to withdraw British forces from Persia and to

shut down supplies, thereby stultifying the
agreement, would, in present circumstances, produce
almost certainly the following results. 1. The
Bolsheviks, who are reported to have already turned a
part of the Ghilan into a Red republic, may be
expected to spread their virus into Tehran and

other parts of northern Persia, whose unruly

elements would fall an easy prey to Bolshevik
propoganda. The present pro-British Cabinet of
Vossug at [al] Dowleh would fall and thereupon,

the agreement would inevitably collapse while

in the opinion of H.M. Minister at Tehran, no

other government friendly to the agreement would

be found willing to replace it... 2. The probable
direct result of increased confusion in Persia would
be that our position in Mesopotamia would be
threatened at once, and the possibility of maintaining
ourselves as far up as Bagdad even would be a matter
for earnest consideration. 3. An indirect and most
probable, though perhaps not immediate, result would
be that the state of disorder and troubles in Persia
would centre on the East in general, beginning with
Afghanistan and the Baluchistan border with a

consequent risk of its spreading to India... .

1. F.0. [204900/15L/34] Foreign Office, June 14, 1920, Vol.XIII,
pp.517-18.
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To maintain her interests in the East and her position in
Iran in particular, Britain needed to take urgent steps.
Accordingly she produced fresh ideas as a result of which her
interests could be preserved. Mr Oliphant continues as follows:

"...Should it, therefore, be decided to continue our
previous policy, certain further expenditure as may

be required for military measures, and for supporting
the Persian Government politically, would appear to be
the following:- 1. that such forces as, in the opinion
of the military authorities, may be required to
strengthen our present lines in Persia from railhead

at Quraitu to Kazvin should be supplied, 2. that

such funds as are required to assist the Persian
Government may be sanctioned. They would be (a) to
maintain the administration which has recently
received the assistance of a British financial advisor,
i.e. continuance of monthly subsidy of Tomans 350,000
until September next: (b) to assist in counteracting
Bolshevik propoganda. 3. to enable the Persian
forces, as suggested by the Persian Minister and
persistently supported by Sir P. Cox, to proceed

from Kerman to Isfahan and thence to Azerbaijan."

Although Britain had made a huge expenditure1 on Iran in order to
preserve her interests there, a maintenance of the status quo in
Iran would protect her other interests in other parts of the region;

"...The risks to Mesopotamia and India, should Bolshevism

overrun Persia, would be of such a nature as to

outweigh the present commitments."2

1. i.e. £3,000,000 a year for the upkeep of the Cossacks in Tehran;
£6,000,000 for the upkeep of the British troops in ghprésén;
Tomans, 180,000 a year for the King of Iran and Tomans 1,200,000

for the upkeep of the Cossack Division. See the telegraph of
[204900/150/34]1 F.0. June 14, 1920, Vol.XIII, pp.517-18.

2. Ibid.
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RISE AND FALL OF MIRZA KUCHIK KHAN'S MOVEMENT
On June 4, 1920 the Jangali movement under the leadership of
Mirza Kuchik Ehﬁn] was reorganized. They rebelled against both
the Iranian government and British influence in Iran. The
Jangali's programme can be outlined under the following heads.
1. The people should be sovereign.
2. Elected representatives should hold executive power.

3. Civil rights for all people irrespective of their caste
and creeds.

4. Abolition of all sorts of privileges given to certain people.
5. Abolition of indirect taxation.

6. Establishment of schools and universities.

7. Free education for all children.

8. Better conditions for working peop]e.2
The committee engaged as instructors for its armed forces a

number of German and Turkish officers of whom G aok -: acted as a

close military advisor to Kuchik Khan.

1. Mirza Kuchik Khan was born in Duzakh near Rasht, and was educated in
religious schools in Tehran and Isfahan. During 1905-11, he took
part in the Constitutional Movement, and during World War I he joined
an organization called Tttihéd—i Islam (Islamic unity). In this

organization rich people and traders of rural background were in the
majority. For a full account of Kuchik Khan's life and activities
consult I. Faghré'f, Sardar-i Jangal (Tehran 1965), and the archives
of the British Foreign Office Documents (1920-21).

2. See A. Bennigsen and M. Bro xup, the Islamic Threat to the Soviet
State, (London 1983), p.99, X.J. Eudim and R.C. North, Soviet Russia
and the East, 1920-27 (California 1958), pp.177-181, and the
newspaper Jangal, June 6, (Rasht, 1920).
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The programme of the Jangalis gained much popularity among
the people due to the misrule of the §h§h and foreigners. A
newspaper, Jangal (forest), was printed and acted as the organ of
the committee. The Jangali movement expanded to Mazandaran and
other Caspian regions. The Jangalis managed to capture a few
Britons, among them Captain Noel, an intelligence officer who was
on his way back from Baku, and Quakshot, the manager of the
British Bank in Raiht.]

The Times, referring to Kuchik Khan's movements, wrote,

"Kuchik Khan was well known to the Dunsterville force.
In the spring of 1918 General Dunsterville advanced
from Kermanshah towards the Caspian, reaching Kazvin
on June 1, where he joined the Russian Partisan troops
under Bischarakoff. The further advance of the force
to Rasht and Enzeli was unsuccessfully opposed by the
Jangalis under Kuchik Khan, but no serious trouble
arose until July 20, when Kuchik Khan's followers
attacked the small British force stationed at Rasht.
The Hampshires and Gurkhas, however, gave the Jangalis
a severe drubbing - over 100 were killed and after this
Kichik Khin gave the British little trouble."?

By the end of his uprising, Kuchik Khan had fallen out with his
erstwhile allies and caused harm to the people. At the end of 1921
the Shah's army led by Riza Khan attacked Rasht and destroyed the
Gilan movement. After the collapse of the republic Kuchik Khan

fled to the forest with one of his close associates, Gaok, a German

1. See Lenczowski, Russia and the West in Iran, (New York, 1949),
pp.54-5.
2. The Times, January 10, 1920.

94



agent, but because of snowfall and rain, he could not go much
further with his followers, and was found frozen to death on
the Talish mountains.

Akhwund Zada says of Kuchik Khan's character,

"He was a demagogue and promise-breaker and his
thinking was more backward than that of Ihsan
Al13h Khan.  Kichik Khin exploited the religious
sentiments of his fellow men in order to cheat
them. He always kept a Tasbih (prayer-beads) with
him and whenever he wantea_fﬁ_éb anything or take
any decision he used to take at random a part of
the tasbih and begin to tell the beads calling
them_EEBEf bad, good, bad one by one. This was
his peculiar method of taking a decision. If
the last bead coincided with 'bad' he used to tell
his followers, 'God did not ordain it'."?

The fall of the Gilan uprising had at least one benefit, in
that it caused the people to realise that the leadership and
ability of Iranian society needed to be greatly improved.

According to the newspaper Bgfg,3on June 15, 1920, a representative
from the "Gilan Republic" arrived in Moscow. Although the greatest
sympathy for this fraternal Government was shown, he however sensed
vexation in the mind of the so called specialist in the Soviet
Ministry of Foreign Office. Vozniesensky, head of the oriental

section in the Foreign Office, maintained that Kuchik Khan's

1. Mirza M. Akhumd Zada, Azarbayjan Ruznamasinin Nashriyyasi,

(Tabriz 1974), p.78.
2. Ibid.
3. Ra®d, June 15, 1920.
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Government was not at all Communist, but that it was composed
solely of petty bourgeois and of nationalists and that its

programme was merely anti-British.

In conclusion we may observe that the 1919 agreement provided
yet more evidence of the weakness of the Iranian state during this
period.  The Iranian treasury was empty, the country was ravaged
by warfare in which Ottomans, Germans, British and Russians had
totally ignored Iranian neutrality, the provinces were in a state of
anarchy and rebellion, and Iranian statesmen were so demoralised
that it was possible for one of their number, Vusug al-Dawla to see
the only hope for improvement as lying with an agreement with
Britain that would have turned Iran into a virtual protectorate,
despite British claims to the contrary. In order to achieve this,
Britain was prepared to offer administrators and loans to the Iranian
treasury, but also paid subsidies to Vusuq al-Dawla and Ahmad Shah
which in practice were hard to distinguish from outright bribery, and
were certainly perceived as bribery within Iran. In return, Britain
would receive security for the borders of India and Mesopotamia, be
able to prevent Communist influence from spreading from Russia, and
would be in a position to benefit from Iranian resources once that
country had been provided with a European-style administration.

It is not surprising therefore that this agreement was opposed
even by Britain's allies, while it was completely unacceptable to

nationalist-minded Iranians. Particularly opposed to it were the
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constitutionalists, and in order to impose it it would have

been necessary to bypass the Majlis and any kind of democratic
procedures. Vugﬁq al-Dawla in fact attempted to do this by rigging
the election of 1919, but even then did not dare to actually convene

the Majlis. Eventually Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla had to resign, and with the

replacement of the chief British architect of the scheme,
Sir Percy Cox, by the much more pragmatic Norman, the entire
project was allowed to lapse.

In the meantime, however, various revolts had broken out in
Iran.  Some 1ike the Jangali movement in Gilan, were inspired by
more than opposition to the 1919 agreement, and the main
constitutionalist opposition came from Tabriz and from Khiyabani,
the Teading spokesman for Tabriz at this time. As we shall see
in the following chapter the government in Tehran for propoganda
purposes accused ﬁhiyébénﬁ's movement of being separatist and of
being supported by the Bolsheviks. This has since become a stock
reaction to any provincial movement demanding reform in Iran, but
nevertheless this claim needs to be investigated to see whether it
rests on any fact. In the following chapter we shall study the
history and political demands of the Tabriz uprising in an attempt

to answer these and other questions.
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Chapter 4

CAUSES OF THE UPRISING

Before studying the Tabriz Uprising it is necessary to examine the
various elements which were to provoke it. Although there are
different ideas concerning these elements, a study of some of the
opinions of the witnesses, who had been active and had participated
in this uprising, will make it possible to understand the main
reasons behind this event.

Muhammad °A17 Badamchi, the close assistant of Khiyabani and an
active member of this movement discusse§ tﬁe elements which caused
the start of Khiyabani's Uprising, in an article published in Berlin
in February 1924 in Iranschdhr. We should also study the valuable
writings of Ahmad Kasravi who had different opinions and views from
Khiyabani and did not agree with him on many points.

A study of foreign historians' opinions would also be helpful
although we should study them with reservation since they have often
merely copied from one another and have not even attempted to record

correctly the names of the leadership of the uprising,] or have

1. For instance see C. Skrine, World War in Iran, pp.63-64 and

G. Lenczowiski, Russia and the West in Iran, p.61.
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hardly mentioned the uprising at a11] or have not even given
the right date of the movement.2

Some of the reasons were directly felt by the people, and
have roots in the history of the area. In addition, there were
other external causes which we should study as well.
M.A. Badamchi points out that by this time Vusuq al-Dawla had
signed the notorious 1919 Agreement with Britain. The Democrat
Party of Tabriz was unable to oppose this directly at the time,
since elections were not called until after this date, but
Tajaddud, the official newspaper of the Democrat Party, condemned

this Agreement, and wrote, "without the ratification of the Majlis

we do not recognize it as more than a sheet of paper".3

Vusug al-Dawla knew that it would be impossible to obtain
the Agreement's ratification by a Majlis which contained Khiyabani
and the other five members of the Democrat Party, who had been
elected as deputies for Tabriz for the fourth period of the Majlis.
Thus Vusliq al-Dawla sent two Swedish police officers,
Marshal Bjorling and Fokl K16 accompanied by a detachment of

Iranian police to Tabriz.

1. For instance N. Nicholson, Curzon: The last phase, 1919-1925,
(Edinburgh 1934); L.P. Elwell-Sutton, Modern Iran, (London 1941);
W.Z. Laqueur, The Soviet Union and the Middle East, (London 1957),

~
REIEN .

2. For instance L.P. Elwell-Sutton, A Guide to Iranian Area Study,
p.151, (Michigan 1952).
3. Iranschahr, No.14, (Berlin 1926).
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According to Azari the orders of these officers were to
overthrow the Democrat Party and kill its 1eaders.] In the words
of Badémggﬁ, one of the officers who was drunk at a party said to
the others "according to our orders we are to eliminate all
Democrat leaders and destroy the Tabriz Democrat Party".2 While
sending these officers to take action against the latter party,
Vusug al-Dawla put the contents of the Agreement into action
without the consent of the Majlis. The British advisors and
officers arrived in Tehran and started working, and the Tabriz
Democrat Party decided that in these circumstances to remain silent
would be a great treachery to the country.

Kasravi however, gives a different explanation of the causes
of Khiyabani's Uprising. The Bolsheviks were gaining strength in
Russia and the Red Army were sweeping éway their opponents,
especially in the South, and Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla was worried about the
advance of the Soviet army to the Iranian borders, particularly to
the Azerbaijan region. A Bolshevik centre was established by
Kurt Wustrow in the German Consulate in Tabriz where a lot of weapons

and ammunition were stored.3 The Consulate was ordered by

1. “A17 Azari states "Vusiq al-Dawla informed the Governor-General of
Tabriz that Marshal Bjorling was coming with two or three officers
to take over the Tabriz Police Headquarters, but when we found out
that the latter Marshall had brought forty four police and officers,
we knew that a plot was being prepared". For more details see,
°A. Azari, Q.Kh., p.238.

2. Iranschdhr, op.cit., No.14.

3. These had remained in Tabriz since the final days of the First World
War. They had been brought by the Ottomans who were allied to the
Germans. See A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., p.863.
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Mukarram a]—Sa]@ana, the then Governor General of Tabriz to hand
over the weapons and ammunition in accordance with British demands,
but Wustrow not only did not accept this request, but sent the
following ultimatum: "if there is any further intervention, I
shall blow up the consulate and whatever is hidden there". He also
warned Mukarram al—Sa]Fana to evacuate all the people who lived in
the neighbourhood of the consulate building. Beside this, he
started to conduct propaganda for communism and spread a rumour
that he and others were going to take over the town and establish a
Bolshevik Government.

Because of this Vugﬁq al-Dawla wanted to protect Tabriz
against a possible Soviet invasion and against communist sympathisers.
On February 13, 1920, he therefore sent Marshal Bjorling to the
Tabriz Police Headquarters to reorganize the police and prepare them
to face a Soviet invasion. The first Police Headquarters in Iran
had been founded during the early years of the Iranian Constitutional
Movement under the strong discipline of Ijlal al-Mulk in Tabriz. He
was able to organize and establish a regular and responsible police
force there which contributed to the security of the city. When
the Tabriz Headquarters was taken over by Bjorling, there was a
strong reaction from the police. The reason for this was that some
of them would lose their jobs because of this change. There was
another factor, Kasravi adds, which was dissatisfaction among the
members of the financial department. Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla sent Tarjuman
a]-Sa]Fana to organize a new system and he established reform in the

financial department of Tabriz. These two actions, namely the
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moves against the police and financial employees in addition to
an incident which took place in the early days of the Iranian New
Year 1299 (April 6, 1920) brought the uprising to a boiling point.
Some democrats and their supporters had been recently arrested.
Among them was Mirza Baqir, a supporter of the Democrat Party of
Tabriz who was arrested and kept in detention at the Nawbar Police
Station. Mirza Bagir had refused to go to the police station
because the man in charge of the police was not a Muslim, and this
incident in fact became the spark which set fire to the movement
and was used by the Democrats as a pretext for the uprising.]
Finally we must consider Khiyabani's own account of these events,
which was published in Tajaddud and gives very clear reasons for the
uprising. Khiyabani writes,

“There is a great deal of insecurity, anarchy and
public disorder in our society which is threatening
our lives and properties. It is as if government
has approved of the existence and continuation of
this situation in our country. We are not receiving
any benefit at all from the resources and facilities
of our country. The chains of feudalism are still
hanging from the hands of the despotism, which has
not allowed us to organize our democracy. Our
workers, peasants, businessmen and merchants have
no security. due to the wild thieves and barbaric
highwaymen. Due to the disobedient and violent
people, the life in the cities is under their direct
influence. Plundering, aggression and corruption are
common occurrences nowadays, and are even believed to
be natural in this country. But we declare and warn,

1. See A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., pp.862-868.
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that this is not a natural situation, this is anarchy
which has been established and developed by the
despotic and reactionary Vu§ﬁq al-Dawla. Fourteen
years ago, Iranians rebelled and attempted to drive
out all feudal landlords, parasites on society and

the bourgeoisie and banish them from society for

in fact they were the elements of despotism,
oppression and anarchy. Then they established
constitutional law in response to their country's
demands. They held many demonstrations for their
freedom, independence and equality in society, made
mahy sacrifices, and asked for help from internal and
external powers in order to achieve their demands.
Iranian troops who were conscripted from the suffering
nation used their weapons against liberals, freedom
fighters and Constitutional Law. We would like to
drive all backward thieves and wild brigands out of
our country; we would like to destroy the doctrines
of oppression, plunder and insecurity for ever in
Iran; we would hope to preserve the lives and
properties of Iran's democracy. But now we observe
that not only have none of these wishes been met,

but also that our freedom, freedom of speech and
individual immunity which are provided by the
Constitutional Law are violated by a group of plunderers
and disobedient people. No! this treacherous plot
will not succeed in the face of the Constitutional Law.
The Constitutional Law will be alive, as long as
Azerbaijan and its liberals are alive, Constitution
will never be abandoned! Hands off our Constitutional
Law! The liberals of Azerbaijan have rebelled to

put an end to this abnormal situation and to wake up
the people who have forgotten the sound of 'Long Live

Constitutional Law.“1

1. Tajaddud, April 26, 1920.
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Ina telegram to the Democrat member for Tehran and future
governor general, Mukhbir a]-Sa]Fana,] Khiyabani described the
difficult siutation both in Azerbaijan and other parts of the
country. Then he pressed on Mukhbir a]-Sa]Fana the consequences
of delay in the Majlis elections:

“...in view of our common aim, I advised ﬂg@rb&yj5n7s
to be patient and not engage in opposition any more.
But because of the baseless and false propaganda of
the central government against us, we would like to
take serious action and declare that the Azarbayjanis
are dissatisfied with this delay which has caused the
Majlis elections not to take place... do take a
serious step otherwise there will be more anarchy if
power falls into the hands of the reactionary central
leaders, who are traitor to both country and nation, and
there will be no country with the name of Iran in

future... ."2

Mukhbir al-Saltana realized the important position of Iran for
foreign powers and urged both political leaders and the Iranian
government to consider this. He believed that if the government
was disinterested in the fate of the country, the external powers
would not treat the internal politicians seriously. Thus he
declared;

“...the Great Powers were determined to preserve

their interests in this part of the world... 3

However, apart from advising Khiyabani, to be patient and obey
the central government, he took no action which might have calmed

the situation in Tabriz.

1. See Appendix No.3.
2. See M.Q. Hidayat (Mukhbir al-Saltana) Kh.Kh., p.314.
3. See M.Q. Hidayat (Mukhbir al-Saltana) Kh.Kh., p.320.
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THE UPRISING

On Tuesday, April 6, 1920 a meeting was held by Eﬂiyébén? and the
Democrats in the Tajaddud building. During the last few days the
police had started to arrest some of the Democrats. These arrests
were carried out on the direct orders of Bj6rling who was worried
about the violence and demonstrations. A group of Democrats were
instructed by the committee to go to Nawbar Police Station and
release all those who had recently been arrested. This group of
about fifty people released the prisoners after a little argument
with the police and finally with the help of Sardar Inti§5r, the
Deputy Governor of Azerbaijan who was in the area at that time.
This incident was reported by an officer to Bjorling who then sent
his deputy Fokol K16 with a group of police to recapture the
released men. In order to reach the insurgents and demand the
return of the prisoners, he surrounded the Tajaddud building. This
gave Sardar Intigér the opportunity to go to the building and calm
an escalating situation, which he did by ordering F6kol Kio to return
to Police Headquarters. Kasravi states that it was due to

Sardar Intisar's assistance that Khiyabani was successful and that

1 On

of course this event strengthened Khiyabani and his followers.
Wednesday April 7, 1920, the majority of the Tabrizis joined the
Democrats and the Bazar closed. The students of Tabriz marched

through the streets, carrying the Iranian National flag. In

1. See A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., p.870.
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Qoyun Maydani, (Sheep Square) they burnt down all the gallows

which had been set up by Mukarram a]-Sa]Fana, the previous

Governor General in Tabriz, on whose orders many Tiberals and
democrats had been executed. They then carried one .of the

burnt gallows to Tajaddud where they were gladly received by the
other people who were gathered there.] Kasravi writes of this
event, "the students went to the Bazar and forcibly closed all the
shops, and then set the gallows on fire, on which some of Ebjyébénﬁ's
assistants had been executed".2 Following this a meeting took
place to discuss the matter of the unpaid salaries of the soldiers.
The Insurgents collected some money and the soldiers were told to
collect their money at Tajaddud. When this news reached the police,
who had not been paid for the last few months they also went to
Tajaddud and were paid as well as the soldiers. This had a fruitful
result for the Insurgents, because when the Democrats wanted to take
over the Police Headquarters there was no resistance by the police.
Following this Bjorling and his companions had to leave Tabriz for
Tehran.  Khiyabani then made a speech in the presence of more than
twenty thousand Tabrizis. The brief outline of his speech is as
follows;

"The Constitution was achieved by sacrificing our
best young liberals. Now we are struggling under
the harsh pressure of a treacherous gavernment.

1. See CA. Azari, Q.Kh., p.265.
2. See A. Kasravi, T.H.S.A., pp.870-71.
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I hereby notify the inhabitants of the world that
we have rebelled against this government which has
accepted the Agreement between Vu§ﬂq al-Dawla and
Britain.  Tabriz is the place of freedom fighters
and has sacrificed its liberals for the sake of
Iran's independence. Thus we may call it
Azadistan rather than Azerbaijan, and we would

like to call for its recognition."]

The Committee in jts demands declared that state officials must
submit to the rule of freedom in the country, and must without delay
respect and carry out the constitution. The main tasks of the rising
as set out by the public committee were as follows;

To put an end to the predatory activities of foreign
imperialists; to dismiss local parasites out of
Rzadistan; to put the constitution, which was obtained
by the people in 1905-11, into practice, and to fight
for peace and democracy against external interference
and Iranian reactionaries.

On Thursday 9, a manifesto was published in Persian and French,
by the committee, and communicated to all foreign Consulates General
in Tabriz as follows,

"The Liberals of Tabriz, prompted by the reactionary
tendencies which have been manifested in a series
of anti-constitutional acts committed by the Tocal
authorities and which have become extremely serious
especially in the province of Azadistan, have risen
to protest strongly against this.

1. Ghulam Mammadly, Khiyabani, p.75.
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The Liberals of Tabriz declare that their entire
programme consists of obtaining complete

satisfaction as regards the government respecting,
on its part, the Constitutional Laws. The
Liberals recognize the extreme importance of
maintaining at all costs public order and peace.

The Liberals programme consists of the following:

To establish a system for social welfare and to

put the Constitutional Laws from theory into

practice."

Directing Committee for meetings, Tabriz, 9th April 1920.]

THE DAY OF UPRISING

The first day of the uprising was described in a letter written by

CA17 Akbar Agah® in 1949 which has been quoted by Azari,

“...I was informed that a man had come from Tajaddud

to notify all the staff of the governor's office

that they should leave the office and attend a meeting
in Tajaddud at which all the people of Tabriz were
invited to be present... I asked my servant to get
some news from the Ark and I went to the Bazar to

find out what had happened. The most notable thing
which attracted my attention was the students who

1.

See Appendix No. 4.

2. ©A17 Akbar Agéh was an eyewitness of the uprising, and in his

letter he states that this information was original and exclusive
to him, but that he had kept it to himself for fear that it might
be misrepresented. Agah was an employee of CAyn al-Dawla and
was present in Tabriz during this period. For more details see
CA. Azari, Q.Kh., p.237.
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were marching through the gégéﬁ and carrying two
burned gallows, saying that Mukarram al-Saltana had
executed Mujahids on these gallows. Some other
people were encouraging people to close down their
shops and attend the meeting in Tajaddud. A1l
Tabriz offices and governmental buildings were
closed and the staff were directed to the

Tajaddud building. At that time Badamchi and
Ganja'i arrived at the Ark in a coach and went

into the office and delivered Khiyabani's demands
for Mir Muhammad ©A17's release.] I telephoned the
Police Heaaquarters to ask for Mir Muhammad “A1i's
release and then went to Tajaddud where Khiyabani
was giving a speech in the presence of twenty
thousand Tabrizis."

Khiyabani's brief speech was as follows;

"We people, who have gained our freedom and constitution
with a great deal of our brave young people's blood
are struggling under difficult conditions and under
the pressure of the reactionary central government.

I hereby announce to the people of the world that

we have rebelled against a government which has
agreed to Vusuq al-Dawla's destructive pact with
England.  Since Tabriz has been the place of
freedom lovers and has offered many Mujahids in
order to gain her freedom we change the name of
Azarbaijan to Azadistan 2 and now announce its birth."

1. Mir Muhammad €A1, whose name is given by most sources as
Mirza Bagir, had been arrested for distributing anti-government
leaflets in Tabriz a few days before the uprising.

2. We will discuss this in the fifth chapter where Khiyabani's
speeches are analysed.
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At that time Mir Muhammad “A17 came along with Sattar Khan's
son, both of whom were welcomed warmly by the people. I left for
the governor's office at 10a.m. and later on Badamchi and Ganja'i
came in and delivered another of Khiyabani's demands in which he
asked for the dismissal of the Swedish Police Officers from Police
Headquarters because these officers had not carried out their duty
properly. He asked for command of the police to be handed over
to Sardar Mukarram who had previously held this office and in whom
the people of Tabriz had full trust. Following this action
Bjorling was asked to leave Tabriz for Tehran, but he stayed in
Basminj (a town in the countryside two miles outside Tabriz).
Sardar Mukrram took office and all Swedish officers left Tabriz.
Eﬂiyébén? then asked the people to go and carry on with their da%]}
activities, open their shops and be sure that there was no
insecurity from now on throughout the city, because a trustworthy
man was now in charge in the Police Headquarters.]

According to the London Times:

"...The Tabriz Democrats once more have had their
way and the opponents of British Policy and the
Anglo-Persian Agreement here are quick to take

advantage of the situation... ."2

1. For a full account, see CA. Azari, Q.Kh., pp.281-82.
2. The Times, May 19, 1920.
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THE ORGANIZATION OF THE UPRISING

To lead the movement the Hay'at-i Ijtima i (public committee) was

formed under the leadership of Khiyabani. The Insurgents seized
all the administrative centres in Tabriz, including police stations,
post office and financial office. All power in Tabriz fell into
the hands of the Democrats and the town became the centre of the

National Liberation Movement of Azerbaijan. The Hay'at-i Ijtima‘i

announced to the population that they had rebelled against the anti-
democratic policy imposed by the central government. They then
dismissed all government officials from their posts and expelled

them from Tabriz. The Hay'at-i Ijtima'j considered the ques